Organocatalytic Asymmetric Direct Vinylogous Aldol Reactions of 2-Furanone and Application in the Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994, (2*S*,3*R*)-3-Hydroxypipecolic Acid and (+)-Febrifugine

by

© Eldho K. Paul

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Chemistry

Memorial University

St. John's, Newfoundland

May 2014

To my famil

ABSTRACT

The organocatalytic, direct vinylogous aldol reaction (ODVA) of 2-furanone (γ crotonolactone) is of interest because the reaction provides direct access to γ -substituted butenolides, an important structural motif in several natural products and biologically active compounds. We have observed that this reaction is catalyzed by chiral aminothioureas and aminosquaramides. A detailed investigation of this method is described in Chapter 2. The ODVA reaction of γ -crotonolactone with aldehydes can be used for the synthesis of substance P receptor antagonist piperidines (+)-L-733,060 and (+)-CP-99,994, and also for the synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid, which is a component of tetrazomine, an antitumor agent and an antibiotic. These results are presented in Chapter 3. This methodology is also useful for the total synthesis of the antimalarial alkaloid (+)-febrifugine and a formal synthesis of (+)-halofuginone, an antimalarial agent. The results of this work are described in Chapter 4.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I'd like to thank my thesis advisor, Professor Sunil V. Pansare, for his guidance, endless support, enthusiasm and encouragement throughout my doctoral studies. From the first day, his door was always open when I needed to discuss any topic, no matter how random or obscure. I am extremely grateful for his guidance, patience and creativity in approaching chemical problems.

I express my gratitude to other members of my thesis committee, Professor Yuming Zhao and Professor Ray Poirier for providing me their support, valuable comments and suggestions over the years. It's been a true pleasure to interact with Professor Graham Bodwell and Professor Paris Georghiou. They have provided me with helpful discussions, support and encouragement during the program.

I would like to thank Professor K. K. Balasubramanian, a former Professor at the Indian Institute of Technology, Madras, and my research supervisor at Shasun Research Center Chennai. He was tremendously important in my decision to undertake my Ph.D studies. Without his support, I wouldn't have pursued my higher studies.

During my doctoral programme I have had the privilege of working with a number of exceptionally wonderful people and I would like to take the opportunity to thank them individually. Dr. Rajinikanth Lingampally was the only senior-most person in our lab when I started my programme. Thank you so much Dr. Rajini for the great support in the beginning years. He was always there for help, with so much patience. My special thanks to Mr. Rajendar Dyapa, Mr. Kaivallya Kulkarni, and Mr. Rakesh Thorat, for their support and encouragement in the lab. As we always say, this is the best time in our life and it's never going to come back. I always cherish the memories we had inside

and outside the lab. I thank, Mr. Guru Moorthy, Mr. Ryan Hughes, Mr. Tim Morgan, Mr. Adam Hefferman, Mr. Wilson Humphries and Ms. Robyn Penney for their support. Apart from my lab-mates, the help and support from MUN colleagues from other research groups is greatly appreciated. Also, I thank all my friends in St. John's who supported me throughout my stay.

I'd like to thank Ms. Julie Collins and Dr. Celine Schneider for the training and assistance with NMR spectroscopy, Ms. Linda Winsor for the training and support with mass spectrometry, and Mr. Brent Myron for the support with IR spectroscopy.

I would like to thank Mr. Dave Murphy for his help with computer-related matters. I thank Ms. Mary Flinn, Ms. Rosalind Collins, Ms. Ebony Penny, Ms. Gina Jackson and the late Ms. Viola Martin in the Chemistry department for their assistance with administrative matters. I thank Mr. Steve Ballard, Ms. Bonita Smith for providing store-room support. I would like to extend thanks to colleagues in the teaching labs, Mr. Patrick Hannon, Mr. Cliff McCarthy, Ms. Nathalie Vanasse, Ms. Anne Sheppard, Mr. Dave Stirling and Ms. Hyma Naidu for their wonderful support.

I also wish to thank the Department of Chemistry, Memorial University of Newfoundland, the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, and Canada Foundation for Innovation for financial support.

Finally, I want to give my deepest thanks to my family, especially my mom and dad. Thanks to my sisters for their continuous support throughout my life. This thesis certainly would not have been possible without the love and encouragement from them.

Abstractiii
Acknowledgementsiv
Table of Contents
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
List of Schemesxi
List of Abbreviations and Symbolsxiv
Chapter 1. Introduction
1.1 The organocatalytic vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol (OVMA) reaction3
1.1.1 OVMA reactions of cyclic siloxydienes4
1.1.2 OVMA reactions of acyclic siloxydienes9
1.2 Organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol (ODVA) reaction11
1.2.1 ODVA reactions of acyclic dienes
1.2.2 ODVA reaction of cyclic dienes
1.3 Applications of ODVA reactions
1.4 References
Chapter 2. Organocatalytic Asymmetric Direct Vinylogous Aldol Reactions of
γ-Crotonolactone with Aromatic Aldehydes25
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Results and Discussion27
2.2.1 Determination of the absolute configuration of 8a
2.3 Conclusions

Table of Contents

2.4 Experimental section	37
2.5 References	50
2.6 Selected ¹ H NMR spectra	53
2.7 Selected HPLC chromatograms	61
Chapter 3. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and (2S,3R)-3-Hydroxy-	
Pipecolic Acid: Application of an Organocatalytic Direct Vinylogous Ald	lol
Reaction	68
3.1 Introduction	69
3.2 Known synthetic routes to (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and	
(2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid	69
3.2.1 Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060	70
3.2.2 Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994	73
3.2.3 Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid	75
3.3 Results and Discussion	78
3.4 Conclusions	84
3.5 Experimental section	86
3.6 References.	104
3.7 Selected ¹ H and ¹³ C NMR spectra	107
3.8 Selected HPLC chromatograms	126
Chapter 4. Synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine and a Formal Synthesis of (+)-Halofuginone	
Employing an Organocatalytic Direct Vinylogous Aldol Reaction	129
4.1 Introduction	130
4.2 Known synthetic routes to (+)-Febrifugine	131

4.2.1 The Sudalai synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine	131
4.2.2 The Lin synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine	
4.2.3 The Evans synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine	
4.3 Results and Discussion	136
4.4 Conclusions	143
4.5 Experimental section	144
4.6 References	158
4.7 Selected ¹ H and ¹³ C NMR spectra	162
4.8 Selected HPLC chromatograms	175
Chapter 5. Conclusions	
5.1 Summary of the thesis	179
5.2 Future work	

List of Tables

Table 2.1.	Solvent survey for the vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone28
Table 2.2.	Catalyst survey for the vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone31
Table 2.3.	Vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone with various aldehydes33
Table 4.1.	Optimization of the ODVA reaction of crotonolactone and
	aldehyde 27139

List of Figures

Figure 2.1.	Direct aldol approach to butenolides2	:6
Figure 2.2.	Bifunctional catalysts examined for the direct vinylogous aldol reaction	
	of crotonolactone2	27
Figure 2.3.	A proposed transition state assembly for the ODVA reaction leading	
	to the a n alldbl product	4
Figure 3.1. l	Biologically active 2,3-disubstituted piperidines targeted in this study6	9
Figure 3.2.	The organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol route to functionalized	
	piperidines7	8
Figure 4.1.	(+)-Febrifugine (1), (+)-halofuginone (2) and isofebrifugine (3)13	3
Figure 4.2.	The organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol route to febrifugine13	8
Figure 4.3.	Selected aminothiourea and aminosquaramide catalysts13	9

List of Schemes

Scheme 1.1. Classical aldol vs. vinylogous aldol reactions
Scheme 1.2. The first asymmetric OVMA reactions catalyzed by TADDOL4
Scheme 1.3. The Lewis base catalyzed OVMA reactions reported by Scettri and
Acocella
Scheme 1.4. The OVMA reaction of 13 by urea catalyst 14
Scheme 1.5. Diarylureas as catalysts for the OVMA reaction of trimethylsiloxyfuran6
Scheme 1.6. Enantioselective OVMA reactions catalyzed by cinchonidine salt 20 7
Scheme 1.7. OVMA reaction catalyzed by quinine derived aminothiourea salt
Scheme 1.8. The OVMA reaction catalyzed by TADDOL
Scheme 1.9. Disulfonimide catalyzed OVMA reaction10
Scheme 1.10. Disulfonimide catalyzed bisvinylogous aldol reaction11
Scheme 1.11. The base promoted vinylogous aldol reaction of senecialdehyde12
Scheme 1.12. A vinylogous aldol route to 39 13
Scheme 1.13. The ODVA reaction of α -branched enals with isatins
Scheme 1.14. The triethylamine catalyzed ODVA reactions of dihalofuranones14
Scheme 1.15. The ODVA reaction catalyzed by chiral guanidine 48 15
Scheme 1.16. The DVA reaction catalyzed by tryptophan-derived thiourea catalyst16
Scheme 1.17. The ODVA reaction catalyzed by thiourea and squaramide17
Scheme 1.18. The ODVA reaction catalyzed by the combination of chiral quarternary
ammonium aryloxide/N,O-bis(trimethylsilyl)acetamide18
Scheme 1.19. The ODVA reaction catalyzed by primary amine thiourea
Scheme 1.20. A proposed biogenetic route to reserpine 65 and yohimbine 66 20

Scheme 2.1. The triethylamine catalyzed reaction of γ -crotonolactone with	
aldehydes	30
Scheme 2.2. Hydrogenation and hydrogenolysis of aldol product	35
Scheme 2.3. Conversion of aldol product into lactam	36
Scheme 3.1. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060 by Garrido	71
Scheme 3.2. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060 by Haddad	73
Scheme 3.3. Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 by Garrido	74
Scheme 3.4. Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 by Bhat	75
Scheme 3.5. Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid by Lee	76
Scheme 3.6. Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid by Chattopadhyay	77
Scheme 3.7. Conversion of aldol product to lactam employing ODVA reaction	79
Scheme 3.8. Dehydration of aldol product	80
Scheme 3.9. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060	81
Scheme 3.10. Proposed mechanism for the racemization	82
Scheme 3.11. Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 employing ODVA reaction	83
Scheme 3.12. Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid from 52	84
Scheme 4.1. Synthesis of (+)-febrifugine by Sudalai	132
Scheme 4.2. Synthesis of (+)-febrifugine by Lin	134
Scheme 4.3. Synthesis of (+)-febrifugine by Evans	135
Scheme 4.4. Synthesis of S yatcohol 30 via ODVA reaction	141
Scheme 4.5. Synthesis of piperidine 34	142
Scheme 4.6. Total synthesis of (+)-febrifugine	143
Scheme 5.1. The ODVA reaction catalyzed by squaramides 4 and 5	180

Scheme 5.2. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and	
(2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid	181
Scheme 5.3. Synthesis of (+)-febrifugine and a formal synthesis of (+)-halofuginone	
employing the ODVA reaction	182
Scheme 5.4. Organocatalytic direct vinylogous Mannich-type reaction of	
crotonolactone	.183

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

Ac	acetyl
ADH	asymmetric dihydroxylation
APCI	atmospheric pressure chemical ionization
aq.	aqueous
Boc	t ebutoxycarbonyl
br	broad
BSA	N,O-bis(trimethylsilyl)-acetamide
cat.	catalytic
Cbz	benzyloxycarbonyl
CI	chemical ionization
DABCO	1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane
DBU	1,8-diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene
DCM	dichloromethane
de	diastereomeric excess
dr	diastereomeric ratio
(DHQ)2-PHAL	hydroquinine 1,4-phthalazinediyl diether
DIPEA	N,N-diisopropylethylamine
DMAP	4-(dimethylamino)pyridine
DMF	N,N-dimethylformamide
DMP	Dess-Martin periodinane
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
ее	enantiomeric excess

EI	electrospray ionization
eq.	equivalent(s)
Et	ethyl
g	gram(s)
h	hour(s)
HOBt	hydroxybenzotriazole
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
HRMS	high resolution mass spectrum
Hz	Hertz(s)
IBX	2-iodoxybenzoic acid
IR	infrared
i-Bu	isobutyl
J	coupling constant
L	ligand
LAH	lithium aluminium hydride
М	molar
M+	molecular ion
m-CPBA	me tchaloroperoxybenzoic acid
Me	methyl
mg	milligram(s)
min	minute(s)
mL	milliliter(s)
mmol	millimole(s)
MOM	methoxymethyl ether

MsCl	methanesulfonyl chloride
mp	melting point
MS	mass spectrum
NBS	N-bromosuccinimide
NMO	N-methylmorpholine-N-oxide
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
ODVA	organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol
OVMA	organocatalytic vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol
PCC	pyridinium chlorochromate
Ph	phenyl
ppm	parts per million
PTSA	p a notauenesulphonic acid
pyr	pyridine
RCM	ring-closing metathesis
rt	room temperature
SES	(2-Trimethylsilyl)ethanesulfonyl
SmI ₂	samarium iodide
t-Bu	t e-bruttyl
TADDOL	$\alpha, \alpha, \alpha', \alpha'$ -tetraaryl-1,3-dioxolane-4,5-dimethanol
TBAF	tetra-n-butylammonium fluoride
TBDMS	t e-butyldimethylsilyl
TEA	triethylamine
TFA	trifluoroacetic acid
TFAA	trifluoroacetic anhydride

THF	tetrahydrofuran
TLC	thin layer chromatography
TMS	tetramethylsilane
Ts	p-toluenesulfonyl
TPAP	tetrapropylammonium perruthenate
UHP	urea hydrogen peroxide
UV	ultraviolet
VMA	vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol
° C	degree Celsius
δ	chemical shift (spectroscopy)
α	alpha
β	beta
γ	gamma
δ	delta
Е	epsilon
π	pi

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

This chapter is based(moi-mneivtiheew)following pub Pansare, ES. CKNV.eEmu.#P2a0u;1111,7 8-8777709.

Contributions of authors

S. V. Pansare: research superavtiisoonr., litera

E. K. Paul: literature review, manuscript

CHAPTER 1

Introducti on

The aldol reaction is one of the most chemistry-cafrobroncabroomoon formation. Withhien the vinylogous extension is of considentable in principle¹ toof evxtiphnieyalien for for the fitter of a state of the fitter of molectoble is separated from the hitus in cost of b nal all for works her ansmission of electrodinciscy stoeff fine acts car-bcoam bon doub the inby ob no of our "Schhakes scatte eneshio and point is reaction of carbonyl compound component (^{2a}Scheme 1.1).



Schem&Cl1aiscsalvsalvdionlylogous aldol rea

Over the years, the vinylogous aldol r Mukaiyama aldol reablativent)pheoereoutghhelynusctluedoipehdi. vinylogous Mukaiyama amledeboaalis e(d/Maka) tarleyascttsi,on v reviews avail²albni er eocnentthiyse aetmespedatebheiversie confain (borolerrived catalysts Cal, ncdate)iyapanhoosspohrogna an monic date (meeftnatee organic catatliyosntsh) asfoprrotvheen VtWoA bree a are a few reviews-meatedaaelirliavbelde^{2 a}ctaastrativtysbeles, naon t organocatal⁴ yitnictevreemssioofn. atom economy, the vinylogous aldol (ODVA) erde aacitotieohny, deswahsiacmhd uk nucleophiles, is the most attractive versi regioselectivity issues as ⁵ociated with th

1.T1he organocatalytic lvdionlyl(oCegWaoNoduAns)ioWnouka

Thenterest in OVMA reactions is mainly importance in nat²³^aWiath ptobids ucbasky of it of pesisempl have been directed towards thefodre vaes lyompommeet nrt vinylogous aldol reactions. The OVMA react OVMA reactionsy of xoyf diegnesi, cashidl 2) OVMA rea syod xydienes.

1.10.V1MA reactions of cyclic siloxydie Rawal awnod K⁶neopsorted the first example of of silok(Sydheme 1.2) to aldehydes using van catalysts. Prel-in mit noobsynstaludie by dowitats 12 he el

3

tar-bleartievAeDoDOEB (α,α,α',α'-tetr-1,a3adriyolx e4l,-da5inmenethaasnaol) promisingThucsa, talunyestetr op timized 6 oc oe na octitis iownist, h variety of aldehydes in prese8ntcoe porfovaidoe att vinylogous & l(oS oc Heemand oc 2,0) oc ottinson good -7,7,8%) dsan (423 enantiose-1960 & the iviliting g(e2n2eral, aromatic aldehy aliphatic aldehydes in terms of yield and showed op-somple etievity.



Scheme Tihe2 fir SOVT MAssryemancettiroincs catalyzed b

catályzed Complementary the TADDOL tо reported the VMA r1eOcaacttailoynzeodf bsyilaoxLynelwiiensneba Initial experim1e0atns4me44tihtyhlbtehnezadlideenheyde indic N-oxide i s the catalyst οf choi ce among 0 (DMSO), dimethylformamide (DMF) and hexame οf airoomalt de hydes provi2i dmeodde tryhaete keadlsdolThæd dauscytr version of this reaction was not investiga



Schelm3.e The Lewis OVoNalAs earcet aito an Iyrze pool r tA eod c be y I Sa ce

an⁸blavCeasoileeavae,phooivpæeentot voafrithe classic Zanardi catal y iz en gil o Mguo ku asi y a hralo l ruesaicnttoje-borutty-[(ŧ2ert butyldimet-11Hyplysri+11-oy/ale)booxxy/ly]Baatse the conjugate Subsequentlayt, altyhtei corvgearnsoicon of their reacti r⁹eBnyorut\$teBadnisg,bytyihnee£yoobudosione.orte.lsytructu thioureas was stereocheγnsiudbaslt-bi,β/tuunotsiaandteuncsaleatend slayl and ethei obtainedelichs h(iSqchheynie 1.4). Optimiz1a4/traison st choice and thanen(1105)\/aaNn/Asdymeacti the catal yst οf (15)baldol p**pod**ogoobosd iynields. The asymmetric V not ignavteesdtiin this study.



The OVMA reactionistasofnuscilleooxpyhfiulreasnswere f Sori¹⁰einnte2006. Several aromatitchealVoMeAhyrdeeasctvi usi1n,gb3i-(s,3-15, trifluoromet1h7(y110)phmeonly%d)) uarsea cataly temperatuy-beut**eno**little addupolosngworteonde yoitettadisne(of o 1.5). The diastereoselectivity1)of fabroerrego anotiiastereomer in some cases.



Sche1m5.e Diarylureas OVaNs/Acraetaactyisotrs of fortrtihneeth

The same group report-(es2liltyhleoxOyV)MFAurraenacwvii as waves laliphatic alde¹¹holyeodreisvautsiivnegs caaslicxaptyarlryo are known for their ability to bind-anions bonding interactions with the pyrrole NH f tested as catalysts, but these r-7eOa%c)tiaomods r moderate diaste4r:e1o)s.electivities (2.3

The first enantioselectivea2-(vseirlsyiloonxyo)ffut with a variety of ballukdaein yyalnen-savo navba¹²etTrhosieespoprrtoetdocbo relies on t-holeericvien of hog nuia of iem en ary 2.60 am smontihuem porganocatalyst (Scheme 1.6). Preliminary isomers -20-(ftrninemtehtyhlylsiloxye)sfusnhaonwemalest betachydalotle4op (trimethyl1s9islonkybye)fobeas nt nucleophile in tern and en antioselectivity. Reactions with a swere exTahmeisneed reactionpso otprogexoccee belideersobet to eswelt bactivi (2:99.1.a)p.not heen antioselectivity into the set of the



Sche1m6.e EnantiON/\$MAIeeenaicteons catal2y02.ed by c

Denget ¹³ aelx.amined cinchona alkal OW MAA salts reacti-(osniloyflo2xy) furan with various aldehyd derived thiourea22washi**denfi**fubeola aestathee ca reactaisaoms iewlective, and both aromatic, as moderatexecetlyolieenttd-9s8% ()47 In general, the dias enantioselectivitie4s.: 20witton **2846**9:051mee?)#divorer,ad-dmeuhoyhod bettetrhotsheanobsertviecd awliotenhyadtei1spolot(a92/3.%e5)e.180to 4.5



Schelma.eOVMA reaction catalyzed by quinine

In a related -sword of synchologie vænloop oe ood Maan asym reacti-(osniloyflo-2xy) furan with aqaulid medikenny oed ow se dincatta of (free 2b)2a.seThoef results of this studoyt aarke. si These reactions are con-2dDu⁰Cctedin ing een cehrladir, o diastere osel ectivities 9 and d-69 fb6 ae met iw& oeekis one i be at iv to hose obtained wit2h2 the trifluoroace tate 1. 10.V2MA reactions of acyclic siloxydi

So fhaeurs, e tof a cyclic siloxeydViMeAnerseaacstinouncl organocatalytic conditions has been less e acyclic siloxydienes as¹⁵ hanveuwcilizeed Ochpanhsolietnee2s^{35.6} Vill as the vinylogous donoraldienhytcheiss voretruedyuses de the vinylogou2s5(Sachdeomhe p1r.o8d)u.ctNotably, all t with cop-sneplecteivity. Interest-pionogriyaldienhytches chira-14-op op station of th authors s2u6igsgeosbttatihmae1Ddieabilysdoar heetoection of th aldehyde.



Sche1m3e TOM/eMA reaction catalyzed by TA

Lisett ¹⁷adle.veloped aOnVMiAmprreoavcetdion using a disulfonimides a2s7**reat**talegy/stwisthTbalevolirienetey of aldol 2µ97onduacthsighlyγ/αr⊳eg4iOosto)lencathinveer ((Scheme



Sche1m9.e DisulfoniOmViMdAeeacattiaolnyzed

In addition to the vinylogous¹⁷ oafldtohle re reaction was also investigaetefdir(sSicheexmaemp1 organocatalytic bisvinylogous aldol reac enantioselectiev)ei.tyaF-ph (expr)3u1oxwap s 962126 taine of E with configuration. Many aldehydes were tested particularly suitable for aromatiy-acd daun of the sections.



Scheme 1D.i1sOulfonimide catalyzed bisviny

1.02 rganocaditarleycttiovinylogoeuasctailoohol (ODN

The organocatalytic direct vinylogous a version in term². Thoefreataonme esceovneonmayl. challe diastereoselectivity, tenganathidosreelgeicotsievlietcyt, iv with these reactions. So far, ODVA reaction have examined the aαpp-phiseaturented faudenbojdeise

1. 20.D1/A reactionses of acyclic dien

Bräse and¹⁸ rceopwooarm02keeed/rAs recaristalioncyl3a2aonledhyde senecia3l,3deemhpyldoeying DABCO (Sacshennehe. 1Tchatel)altoyistyc hemia324 ewtanob tainedd poryotionniattiad n of 3.12ahte γtsheeneci methyl group followed by the vinylogous al salicyl3a2Aote hoynot e acmxeNatiecchualeal r addition of vethe a by inturlaamrolaetceoto nalig3e4.nOeprtaitmeidzation of the re reveal euds ethoaft stonoelium ic335arsbotnhaet emarjeosrulptreodduct us ef ot riethylamine34.aass to haes e mapjroovvairdoieeddt-dyucdtf. hydroxyebheyndzeaslowere coontwheertterdicey344(tilhie6exrahmtepnhieascet up to 61% cyhireolmo345)(n&ecosaramtphlees, up to 81% yield)



Scheme 1T.h1e1 base promoted vinylogous aldo

Ina related ^{1g}etxuadmyi, neWabgtghoen chiral pyrrolid aldol reactiαςβnunosfataunraatleidphaaltdiechyde and this the synatthoecsoipsheorfol. Re3a&oxtitotnp3o,17ytheehtenbeehypoteese of a diarylβi8goelnienroaltecclattarli3gc9ayhtcrloiucghheamisaecreiteas! such as iminium ion formation, xvaMingyhoogbus additionsaatnidonad(eStcahleime 1.12).



Scheme. 1A. 1v2 inylogo3u9s aldol route t

Recently, ²⁰ Me**pochtord**rethe OD2-S/Albsrteba/4cuttieodn unsaturated aldehydes with isatsiumbsst(i-Stcuhteemde hydroxyoxindo4l4widtehri**goobi**dvesstereocontrol. No proceeded wy-istelhevcetriyvihtiygh



Scheme 1T.h1e3 ODVAα-breazocotheoont eonfals with is

1. 20.D2/A reaction of cyclic dienes

In the coaβ-suens cafturated carbonyl compounds s dirγed cetprotonation with mild of meganinos ov basc sieds tiy γ-hydrogen atoms. However, the H)-of our maens proceso) in ma readily dep η-poot so in tait coend, ast into the this generates As a result, there are usseivneg rablut Ge DivolA indee as chais

The first example of an ODVA of unsbsti and-wook²¹eArsf.ew aromatic aldehydes were teste DABCO to obtain the vinylloggouZestta²²anaelokodaomhinaeddduo the vinylogous aldol 4.15aena4docotaitoanlyozfeddibhyaltorfiuer (Scheme 1.14). Sever**al** deahrwyweodmeaestiecx a aannioche dallia poho reactions woscysneelfeocutniolvet.o be



Scheme 1T.h1e4 triethylamine catalyzed ODVA

Terada-waon de²³edne oveloped a new cl4a,85wsitohfaochii axially chiral,absinoa,**ap fho**tt#hyyes\tdbiarcekcbtonv(eiDAV)ylogou reacTthions was the fiDkV&Arteaecntainotniocosfelheack4o5gyeen at an4d6Various altoylpebewgedrocesfex amined to aff4o9rbd the with upee(tSoch9e9n1%jelt1.w1a5s also found46(tXhBa≢t) dibr provides beatntde rendainatsitoesreelce ctivity than the



Scheme 1T.h1e5 ODVA reaction c4188 alyzed by

Recentelty²⁴ ar kepported the-ahnidogahoen tyiodsiealsetcetrievoe vinylogous aldol reacti445 massockkeemtpole55590wtiientrophs dtihoehl trypt-doeprhiavned bifunct5516(n5) ac kneonegalnotoco) tallyts twas aromatic aldehydes exhibit better stereose method was also exten4d6ed to the dibromofur



Scheme 1T.h1e6 ODVA reaction-decraitvaeloy/zekolioby/retary

It should be noted that the Terada gua applicable in reactions typicarto teomopo513baaysc ttolhinese pa nucleppeic,luession rce the 5d3esc osnipogns iifticoan n²to³ fnin the addition, -the eitegypt op babyst uas lead fubry an Loun east sac nucleppeiclu(reSscohresme 1.16).

The fxiamsptles of ODVA reactions γ-employ crotonolactone were-worrekp⁵eSmestv.edabyaFneingtainduc deriveddipfhreonmylethylceyncelodihænxiannee diamine and ci diamines were studied. Optimizat-dieornivedud aminothБeAwuarse at he catalyst of choice when t diethyl ^oEtħSichentne 310.17). Several aromatic to proavmiaddlied otth 22:00 at a to the major product(3.wo8 th a 5.7:1) and en aBn31666i)eoselectivity (78



SchemeTh@D1V7A reaction catalyzed by thio

Simultaneous with the f⁶elengelsotpueloy, sithmielaPr reactiγ-on stoonfolactone with various aromatic various thiourea and squarami565geavœattahleysbtess result. Overall, ge8αd1)diaansdteerxecceslelleencttievniatni >99e%gewere ob©thaaipnteedt. 2 of tthhies dtehteasiilss doifsctuhses of this method.

rLeocveandtheyr a²⁷nroelp**Otualie**spleinaenctive ODVA r Very of H)(f5ur2aonn 66 with aldehydes (iSsciholgeenmeer 1a.t 1e 8al).ch T a mmo ni u m a mi d e obtained from theN,O-chiral bis(trinanectehtyalmosidley|)(BSA) served the a s С diastereoselectivities and **deanytieo**se(ldeortiv 19:1-9,26,67)\$5, as a swethle aliphatic9:a1l;9d4e&&moobydworesre(d.u good.



ammonium Na,00-byil so (x tyrdlies m/el tyhl) acetamide.

re c²⁸eNntetl cmleipoormete, examined -ntehte-b2-yOIDVA l n а $cyclo-h-cenxeenwith \alpha$ -kweatroieosutsers (Scheme 1.19). catalysts dephorequil eftr,hoymlceynceldoihaemxiannee diamine alkaloid based di a mi ne s studied. O were diphenylethdyelreinveeddiaammiósiñwweaosthitberceaatalyst οf aromatic as well as aliphatic aldehydes enantiose-P@ebeivityshold be noted that the eno5n9aes the nAutctleenopionthsinkeodvorceontiguous (asttereog th/eanofposi)tuisoinnsfgerdei/mistulbystitut**eol**necsydolmeoekm**e**xe

unsuccessful. Linetaorubneerneoancetsivaelespucoonrolpterneroodvtembaeac conditions.



Scheme 1T.h1e9 ODVA reactiaory camantan leyztenoilo buyrep

1.3 Applicateizo ontsioonfis ODVA r

One of the main focuses in modern organ efficient synthetic protocols that allow construction of naturniacl cpormopolueoxtisty with the stver reactiox, pl-unussaets urated carbony lo-hysolubos xtor, plaateesd t unsaturated carbony Is. These functional a synthesis of enantiomenticnaal tluyr aplur per obdiuoclos, i of polyke²t^a iT others or thiags in provided the impetus stereoselective, catalytic vinylogous aldo OV MAR eactions, much effort the there exist to dem
In navtiunryel, ogous aldol reactions are use architectures in the forms of alkoasleooids biogenetic pathways to the op Seam toda cy yoothdicim ob in maet skeletonsmiinnes obilare etenvainy logous aldob 3 react can undergo an enamine assisted dvii anówlyelogous which undergoes functional group to Esaannobs form yohimoboli Since hem e²⁹ 1.20).



SchemeAlpr2o0posed biogen6e5atnioc yroomotionebitnoeres

The orgaincao, scyantinael tyrtic vinylog-6 us a naol nodeolisse interest because the reaction,-buptreconvoil diedses di important structural motif in several natu γ-Butenolitedeveoteria vrae potential intermediates pure, functionand bized rpahyelr. boj ynan derivative The DVA reac,-ction to no of lacton ocanvito he auls devel hyfolog synthes suitoss to a fice P re(c+b)-pi38 80 raOmáq00 + 10) a Pogolo, n, og og swatchsich have been as sociated with a variety of b contraction, neurogenic inflammational sound p useful for 34 hybed rsoyx nytphotie possechic is collopifci sa a component an antaigte unmaomarant do Tihoetirce. sults of this work ar

Chapter 4 will describe a total-synth febrifa**ug**inae formal -h**ay ng flo**pesniesn oafnti(mà) larial employing the organocatalytic direct vinyl

This is abapsuebdlickiastsieorntation. As such, e slightly modified veitastidotmleofbetghikenanpitnokeytrioofaīteia contributions of all authors are explained 1.4 References

1) Fus, on RCh € Rene. 1/9,3156.1

- 2) (a)DenmarkHeeSmoltEr..a, BRe.u;tnGAnol_.eCwhrenmnEtd2OO5 4,446822) Ka(eNol.sTeo.,pCurChe2nOO254,4;4(c3) CasGi.r;aghi, ZanaFr.Al;ppen6liRnaosQu.CheRne.22O0100,01;6(d2)9 Hosokawa, S.T;atsKu.1Mai,4Rie.wOr.ofChe2nO0553;(de) RaGisztaun,aFr.d;i, BattiLs0c;aisniir,Ga.Sogyhnil,199191123;3(f) CasGi.B;aoghtiLst;ini, CurCt.R;as6i.uZ;anaFr.0dhie,Rene.220,1111,13076.
- 3)(a) Brodmann, T.; Lorenz, M.; Soynhaetkel 20091(17)4; Denmark, S. EJ.O,r.ogHheee2mOs017722a65846; r., J (c) Kalesse, MhA; syJmmeHtarsiscTfheSelydnEtshyslees32intsdialed.

(Eds.: M. Christ-Nna£nHn,, WSs.i2n0B6Dne7aipsnpe⊱)1,161.W2iley

- 4)(a) PansaPraeu, IESC.hkéWan.u.;rJ. 20,111,7 8;77(Ob) Bisai, Synt 12:09;\$412;4\$:453.
- 5)(a) JoPh.n.s/Wah.ni;,te,J.Dir.oChe1m9,844,9 4;(b2)4 RaMt.hkWe.; SulliDv.aTne,trahle.eLt1b9n,721,3 4249; (c) Herrman KieczykGowSRok.ln,l,esRs.iTnHg.terahLee.dtn190,7113,4 2433
- 6) Gonbli, OBr. a, Welka w & I, OHr. og. e. 12 10 (07,5 5.657)
- 7) Scenkit Drei, Svi. Voji, II Ra. Nylen, zPoA; coc &/IL ITaRe, trahLee.otrton 20,150,1 3.658
- 8) Cur¢işartAo.rBia, ttiLs.tRiansisGu,BurrePd.dZua, naFdj, CasirGaJgChri¢G, he2n0,078,35446

- 9) De R M/s Taa, I of Ct. St; oar, i Ae Le te te te te te 2n0, 06, 9 3 0 1
- 10D) e R bolls Cai, tLr. 6; o r i Ae.nīte e r a hLee.od2nDo;0446,7 8.507
- 110; a feso Dje RoMska on hn Fk.e, SHor, i Ak n Titæl, o Ct. tv/, aa JeLn.t i, Molec2u010/1944s 2.5.9.4
- 1 2 Njag beloY;; a maYn.et/]ukai yTa0m,hae, Lme. 12 10 0,376.8
- 1 3 § i n Rg.h, FPo.x; mBa.n, DMe n, Lg.J. A mChe Smo. 2:0,1103, 2 9.558
- 1 4 2) h W, Ma B. -- C. Z; h a MgW a n W, A d. Syn Ctaht 2a 00, 1305, 22 2, 9 1
- 15)/jillRa.A;ooceMlllBala;sol.a,ScetAtTreit,rah2e0o00695on5.571
- 16C)han, T. H.; J.B.hei§nxondÇ.h.e.Choqmen,muln97,9578
- 17R) at jLe Cn, a íra-Ci a íra dP. L; ayF, B; e cN41., LE i. \$BtA, n.g.eCvbre, nh n.t E d2 0,151,075.4
- 18()a) Lesch, B.; Tor;änBjräAsldev§ynSVCtabantd2e0trOh5eide,
- 34,75(b5)5;Lesch, B.; ToränSgy,ntJ2:09,696N5li&e&g&e.r, N 19L)iu, K.; Chugne-Dt.Angl.eCybreWpkonEptgl2o0nQ487W5827.
- 201)/1el chiorre, OP.bg;e.12003/1524sa5n5590.C.
- 21\$)udnaN,K,undMu, KR.e,doPy, Mlah,enGol.rBah,aSt., SVy.n.th Commo200,0322 1.881
- 2.2D) as SkárZ;nhaa, bloC;urrTanJ, TOr. oChe2n0,0772 3.311
- 2 3 U) b eH, S; h i m bl dTae, r aVd Aan, g. eC whre, in nEt d 2 0 1409 1.858
- 2.4.1)uol,.W,anbgl;,HanX,.X;uL,.-W.K,wiatk.ob.we/ssukainK,g-W.L;uY,.

Ang. @ wre, in nEt d 2 0 ,1510 1.861

25Y)anYg.,Z;henKgZ;haJo.\$;hj,L;ib,L;ib,F;enXg.,J.Or.ofchem

20,170,5 5.382

261) an sSa.r @V,a.uEl., CKh.e On om mu210,141,7 1.027

2.7L) evacher, V.; OuAdde&yyenr0t, aht Sa.0t;1335CBI 4a1r.az, A.

281)/1elchiorre, A.P.E.;EsTciuadine,roX.Or.oglie.ou2,103,1Y.; Ba 15, 220.

290; or dell, In Ct.ro Ad.u; ctlinon WtVbCeHAyrl kNaelwlo9.Y&ob1sr8k2,6.

CHAPTER 2

Organocatalytic Asymmetric Direct Vinylogous Aldol Reactions of

γ-Crotonolactone with Aromatic Aldehydes

This Chapter is based on the following publication:

Pansare, S. V.; Paul, E. K. hem m2011,n , 1027-1029.

Contributions of authors

S. V. Pansare: research supervisor, manuscript preparation.

E. K. Paul: experimental work, manuscript preparation.

2.1 Introduction

The functionalized γ -butenolide (2(5**H**)-furanone) motif is found in several natural products and the synthesis of butenolides has therefore attracted considerable interest in recent years.¹ A popular approach to 5-substituted furanones involves the vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol reaction of silyloxyfurans² (Figure 2.1), and a number of asymmetric modifications of this reaction are known.^{2f-n} In contrast, the alternative approach involving a direct vinylogous aldol reaction of furanones is less explored,³ and asymmetric variants of this reaction employing chiral guanidine, aminothiourea and chiral ammonium amide as catalysts are reported.⁴ A detailed account of these studies is provided in Chapter 1.



Figure 2.1. Direct aldol approach to butenolides.

The chiral guanidine-based system^{4a} requires halolactones, and fails when crotonolactone is used as the substrate. The aminothiourea mediated reaction requires a fourfold excess of the nucleophile^{4b} and there is scope for improvement of the stereoselectivity.^{4b,c} Evidently, a catalytic system that addresses these issues would be desirable. The following sections describe our findings on the asymmetric, direct

vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone with aromatic aldehydes mediated by aminothiourea and aminosquaramide catalysts.

2.2 Results and Discussions

We initially examined several classes of bifunctional, amine catalysts for the direct aldol reaction of crotonolactone: (a) cyclohexanediamine,^{5a} diphenylethylenediamine,^{5b} cinchonidine^{5c,d} and cinchonine^{5e,f} derived thioureas (1, 2, 3 and 4), (b) cyclohexanediamine and diphenylethylenediamine derived squaramides $(5, 6)^{5g-i}$ and (c) a proline-derived thiourea catalyst (7, Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Bifunctional catalysts examined for the direct vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone.

Orienting experiments were conducted with crotonolactone and benzaldehyde. Initially, the aldol reaction was examined with catalysts **1** and **5** in a variety of solvents (Table 2.1).

			Ph	сно	ОН	
		0, _0_	1 or 5 , :	solvent, rt O ²	´O``	
Entry ^a	Cat ^b	Solvent	t/h	Yield (%)	dr ^c (anti/syn)	ee^{d} (%) (anti)
1	1	CH ₂ Cl ₂	84	65	3.0/1	79
2	1	THF	84	78	5.8/1	76
3	1	toluene	84	89	1.0/1	78
4	1	EtOAc	84	72	3.2/1	72
5	1	CHCl ₃	84	78	3.0/1	70
6	1	MeOH	84	81	2.6/1	40
7	1	DMF	84	63	3.6/1	45
8	5	CH ₂ Cl ₂	12	88	2.0/1	49
9	5	THF	12	89	2.6/1	67
10	5	$CH_2Cl_2^{e}$	168	76	5.3/1	94
11	5	THF ^e	168	92	5.0/1	90
12	5	CHCl ₃ ^e	168	98	5.9/1	91
13	5	toluene ^e	168	46	6.7/1	93
14	5	EtOAc ^e	168	32	5.6/1	96
15	5	DMF ^e	168	65	3.3/1	89
16	5	CH ₃ CN ^e	168	35	4.5/1	93

^a 2 equiv.	of crotonolactone.	20 mol%.	Determined by	¹ H NMR	analysis	of crude
products.	Chiral HPLC analy	sis. ^e Reacti	on at 0 $^{\circ}$ C.			

Table 2.1. Solvent survey for the vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone.

The reaction proceeded smoothly in most of the solvents examined (Table 2.1), and the expected aldol product 8a was obtained as a mixture of an and diastereomers, with the **an** product predominating. Stereochemical assignments are based on the reported ¹H NMR data and the trend in chemical shifts for the and idiastereomers of 8.^{2c} Overall, catalyst 1 provided moderate to good an enantioselectivities for the **an** piroduct, except in methanol and DMF (entries 6 and 7, Table 2.1). Dichloromethane, THF and toluene emerged as promising solvents, when catalyst 1 was used, in terms of enantioselectivity, but the complete lack of diastereoselectivity in toluene precluded further studies in this solvent (entry 3, Table 2.1). At room temperature, 5 provided the aldol product 8a with poor enantio- and diastereoselectivities in dichloromethane and THF as solvents (entries 8 and 9, Table 2.1). Much better results were obtained with 5 at 0 °C (entries 10-16, Table 2.1). Overall, good diastereoselectivities (3.3-6.7:1) and excellent enantioselectivities (89-96% ee) were obtained in most of the solvents for catalyst 5 at 0 °C. Low yields were obtained in ethyl acetate (32%) and acetonitrile (35%) (entries 14 and 16, Table 2.1), as solvents. From these studies, dichloromethane and THF emerged as promising solvents for further investigations.

The enantiomeric excess of **8a-1** was determined by chiral HPLC comparison with racemic samples. The racemic products in this study were prepared by adapting the triethylamine catalyzed reaction of dihalofuranones with aldehydes (Scheme 2.1).^{3a}

n



Scheme 2.1. The triethylamine catalyzed reaction of γ -crotonolactone with aldehydes.

Subsequent studies, aimed at identifying the optimal catalyst, were therefore conducted in dichloromethane and THF. The results obtained from the catalyst survey are summarized in Table 2.2. The diphenylethylenediamine-thiourea catalyst (2) provided 8a in relatively low yield and moderate enantioselectivity. In comparison, the cinchonidine and cinchonine based catalysts (3 and 4, respectively) generated 8a in excellent yields, but the stereoselectivity was low (de: 1.8-4.8/1, ee 50-71%). Much better results were obtained with the squaramide catalyst 5 in dichloromethane and THF at 0 °C (Table 2.2, entries 9 and 10, 94 and 91% ee). In comparison, the diphenylethylenediamine squaramide catalyst 6 was superior to 5 (Table 2.2, entries 11 and 12, 97 and 96% ee. At ambient temperature, 6 provided 8a in excellent enantiomeric excess (97% ee) and good diastereoselectivity (7/1) in dichloromethane. Thus, two optimal catalytic systems, providing the **an** diastereomer in greater than 90% ee were identified from the catalyst and solvent survey, namely (a) the cyclohexanediamine squaramide catalyst 5 in dichloromethane at 0 °C (entry 9) and (b) the diphenylethylenediamine squaramide catalyst 6 in dichloromethane at ambient temperature (entry 11, Table 2.2).

$\langle - \rangle$	PhCHO	ОН
0 0	1-7, solvent, rt	0~_0,
		8a ^{Ph}

Entry ^a	Cat ^b	Solvent	T/h	Yield (%)	dr ^c (anti/syn)	ee^{d} (%) (anti)
1	1	CH ₂ Cl ₂	84	65	3/1	79
2	1	THF	84	78	5.8/1	76
3	2	CH_2Cl_2	96	32	6.7/1	77
4	2	THF	84	33	10/1	75
5	3	CH_2Cl_2	24	95	3.7/1	64
6	3	THF	48	95	2/1	50
7	4	CH_2Cl_2	24	98	1.8/1	65 ^e
8	4	THF	48	95	4.8/1	71 ^e
9	5	CH_2Cl_2	168	76	5.3/1	94
10	5	THF	84	46	4.3/1	91
11	6	CH_2Cl_2	120	35	7/1	97
12	6	THF	120	31	7/1	96
13	7	CH_2Cl_2	144	24	3.6/1	14
14	7	THF	144	25	4.5/1	14

^a 2 equiv. of crotonolactone. 20 mol%. Determined by ¹H NMR analysis of crude products. Chiral HPLC analysis. ^e enantiomeric product. Reaction at 0 °C

Table 2.2. Catalyst survey for the vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone.

The optimized conditions were employed in a study of the scope of the reaction with a variety of aldehydes. These investigations indicated that the choice of

catalyst **5** or **6** is determined by the nature of the aldehyde, and high enantioselectivities are obtained by proper pairing of the catalyst and aldehyde. Nonetheless, for most of the reactions, the diphenylethylenediamine derived catalyst **6** provided higher enantioselectivities than **5**. All isomers of methoxybenzaldehyde (entries 3-5, Table 2.3) provide high enantioselectivity. The diastereoselectivity for all of the reactions is moderate.⁷ Overall, the level of stereoselection (average dr = 6/1, average **ee** = 94%) is higher than that obtained with cinchona alkaloid-thiourea catalysts.^{4b} The aldol products **8a-1** exhibited spectral data in agreement with literature reports.^{2,4} The results of these studies are summarized in Table 2.3.

		,	$() _{-}) _{-}$		J─\ _OH	
		0	0	5 or 6 , CH ₂ Cl ₂		
Entry ^a	8	R	Cat ^b	Yield (%) ^{<i>c</i>}	dr ^d (anti/syn)	ee ^e % anti (syn)
1	b	$4-\text{MeC}_6\text{H}_4$	6	51	8/1	95 (32)
2	c	$4-BrC_6H_4$	6	62	8/1	95 (55)
3	d	4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	6	35	8/1	97 (48)
4	e	2-MeOC ₆ H ₄	6	58	8/1	96 (84)
5	f	3-MeOC ₆ H ₄	6	54	6/1	96 (72)
6	g	$4-ClC_6H_4$	5	50	6/1	94 (83)
7	h	$4-NO_2C_6H_4$	6	50	5/1	>99 (50)
8	i	$4-CF_3C_6H_4$	6	60	6/1	95 (nd)
9	j	2-Naphthyl	6	73	6/1	95 (>99)
10	k	Cyclohexyl	5	50	3/1	>99 (>99)
11	1	1-Naphthyl	6	68	2/1	77 (80)

(R)ArCHO

 $\overline{}$

^a2 equiv of crotonolactone; 20 mol%. 144 h at 0 °C for 5 and 240 h at rt for 6; NMR of crude products. ^eChiral HPLC analysis. $^{1}\mathrm{H}$

 Table 2.3. Vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone with various aldehydes.

The stereochemical outcome of the reaction is presumably governed by hydrogen bonding⁸ of the aldehyde with the squaramide^{5g-j} functionality and an ionic interaction of the deprotonated nucleophile and the resultant ammonium group in the catalyst (Figure 2.3). We have observed that the triethylamine catalyzed reaction of crotonolactone with aldehydes (used for the preparation of racemic products in this study) has an intrinsic preference for the **an** diastereomer (dr = $\sim 2/1$). The present results suggest that the hydrogen bonding functionality in the catalyst enhances this diastereoselectivity.



Figure 2.3. A proposed transition state assembly for the ODVA reaction leading to the **an** aldol product.

2.2.1 Determination of the absolute configuration of 8a

Hydrogenation (Pd/C) of aldol product **8a** in ethyl acetate provided **9** (Scheme 2.2) which was dextrorotatory ($[\alpha]^{23}_{D} = +50.7$ (= 1.0, CHCl₃), 88% **ee**). The positive rotation indicates that lactone **9** is enantiomeric to the previously reported^{2g} (5**S**,1') isomer ($[\alpha]^{25}_{D} = -53.3$ (= 0.22, CHCl₃) for **9** with 92% **ee**). Hydrogenation of **8a** in the presence of HCl, by adaptation of the literature procedure,^{4a} provided **10** (Scheme 2.2) which was assigned the configuration on the basis of chiral HPLC retention times⁷ (Chiralcel OD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 80/20, 1 mL/min, 214 nm, $_{s} = 5.95$ min, $_{R} = 6.74$

min). Lactone **9** is therefore assigned the $(5, 1^{\circ}S)$ configuration, and compounds **8a-1** are also assigned the $(5, 1^{\circ}S)$ configuration by analogy.



Scheme 2.2. Hydrogenation and hydrogenolysis of aldol product.

It was also shown that the aldol products **11a** and **11b** are diastereomeric at C-1', and not at C-5, by converting the aldol products **11a** and **11b** into lactam **15a** and **15b** via a series of simple transformations (Scheme 2.3). Hydrogenation of 11 (8/1 mixture of 11a/11b) to the butyrolactone 12, subsequent mesylation of the secondary alcohol to give 13 and displacement of the mesvlate, with inversion of configuration, by azide anion gave the azido butyrolactone 14. Reduction of the azide (H_2 , Pd/C), in the presence of a base (K_2CO_3), generated the required piperidones 15a and 15b. At this stage, 15a (i isomer) was easily separated from the minor 15b (ansomer) by flash column chromatography. The optical rotation of 15a (i isomer) was consistent with that reported for the (5**S**,6**S**) isomer in the literature ($[\alpha]_D^{23} = +55.3$ (= 1.1, CH₂Cl₂), 97% ee lit. $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +52.0$ (= 1.1, CH₂Cl₂),⁸ for a 99% **ee** sample). The optical rotation of the 15b (**aisomer**) was opposite to that reported for the $(5, 6\mathbf{S})$ isomer in the literature $(\lceil \alpha \rceil_D^{23} = +26.0 (1.0, MeOH), 96\%$ eq lit. $\lceil \alpha \rceil_D^{20} = -25.9 (= 0.27, MeOH),^9$ for a 92% ee sample). Therefore, 15b is assigned the (5S,6) absolute configuration. These

observations indicate that **15b** is obtained from the $(5\mathbf{S},1'\mathbf{S})$ isomer of **11b** which is diastereomeric to **11a** at C-1'. The aldol reaction therefore generates aldol products which are diastereomeric at the secondary alcohol stereocenter.



Scheme 2.3. Conversion of aldol product into lactam.

2.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, a highly enantioselective, catalytic aldol reaction of crotonolactone with aldehydes was developed. A notable outcome of this study is the superior performance of the squaramide catalysts over the conventional aminothiourea catalysts.

2.4 Experimental section

General: All commercially available reagents were used without purification. All reactions requiring anhydrous conditions were performed under an atmosphere of dry nitrogen using oven dried glassware. Dichloromethane and tetrahydrofuran were distilled from CaH₂ and sodium/benzophenone respectively. Commercial precoated silica gel plates were used for TLC. Silica gel for column chromatography was 230-400 mesh. All melting points are uncorrected. Optical rotations were measured at the sodium D line on a digital polarimeter at ambient temperature.

General Procedure for the organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol reaction:

To the catalyst (0.10 mmol, in a 2.0 mL Reacti-VialTM or a standard 3.0 mL vial) was added the aldehyde (0.50 mmol) followed by γ -crotonolactone (2-(5**H**)-furanone) (1.0 mmol) and dichloromethane (0.50 mL). The suspension was stirred for 10 d at room temperature (for catalyst **6**) or kept for 7 d at 0 °C with occassional shaking (for catalyst **5**). The mixture was then diluted with ethyl acetate (1.0 mL) and aqueous HCl (2 N) was added. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with ethyl acetate. The combined extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc, 10/1). The diastereomeric composition (**an** / **i**) **w**as determined by ¹H NMR analysis of the crude product. The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AD-H or AS-H column, flow

rate 1.0 mL/min, UV detection at 210 or 254 nm) by comparison with reported retention times^{4b} for compounds **8a-I**, and also by comparison with racemic standards (prepared by using triethylamine as the catalyst) for compounds **8h**, **8i** and **8l**. The absolute configuration of **8a** was assigned by correlation. Absolute configurations of **8b-I** are assigned by analogy within the series.

5-[Hydroxy(phenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8a):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with benzaldehyde (53 µL, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 34 mg (35%) of **8a** as a white solid.

IR: 3432, 1728, 1167, 1039, 820 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.43-7.34 (m, 6H, ArH and COCH=CH), 6.19 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.9 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.19-5.18 (br m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.09 (br t, 1H, = 4.1 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.25 (d, 1H, = 3.8 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.42-7.36 (m, 5H, ArH), 7.17 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.13 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.17 (apparent dt, 1H, = 7.0, 1.5 Hz, CH=CHCH), 4.71 (d, 1H, = 7.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.78 (s, 1H, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 191.0 (M+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AS-H, hexanes/2-propanol 90/10, 254 nm, $_1 = 27.8 \text{ min (major an),} \mathbf{i}_2 = 36.2 \text{ min, } (), \mathbf{n}_3 = 49.6 \text{ min } (), \mathbf{n}_4 = 66.8 \text{ min (minor an).} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{e} \cdot 97\%$ (an). \mathbf{i}

5-[Hydroxy(*p*-tolyl)methyl]furan-2(5*H*)-one (8b):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with 4-methylbenzaldehyde (59 µL, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 52 mg (51%) of **8b** as a white solid.

IR: 3401, 1736, 1325, 1170, 1102, 1079, 1039, 917, 877 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.36 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.4 Hz, COCH=CH), 7.28 (d, 2H, = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.22 (d, 2H, = 8.0 Hz, ArH, ortho to CH₃), 6.18 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.17-5.15 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.04 (br t, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.37 (3H, CH₃), 2.22 (d, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, OH), 2.37 (3H, CH₃), 2.22 (d, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, OH), 2.37 (3H, CH₃); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.28 (d, 2H, = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.22 (d, 2H, = 8.0 Hz, ortho to CH₃), 7.16 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.6 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.13 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.15-5.17 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 4.66 (dd, 1H, = 6.9, 3.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.58 (d, 1H, = 3.0 Hz, OH), 2.37 (3H, CH₃); MS (APCI pos.): m 205.0 (M+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 95/5, 254 nm, $_1 = 20.0 \text{ min (major an),i}_2$ = 22.2 min, (minor an),i $_3 = 26.8 \text{ min (minor }), n_4 = 29.0 \text{ min (major }). \mathbf{n} \in 95\%$ (an).i 5-[Hydroxy(4-bromophenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8c):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with 4-bromobenzaldehyde (93 mg, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 83 mg (62%) of **8c** as a white solid.

IR: 3343, 1742, 1486, 1399, 1191, 1176, 1095, 1074, 1041, 1008, 917, 880, 831, 808 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.55 (d, 2H, = 8.4 Hz, ArH, ortho to Br), 7.32 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.4 Hz, COCH=CH), 7.29 (d, 2H, = 8.5 Hz, ArH), 6.19 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.15-5.13 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.04 (t, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.48 (d, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.55 (d, 2H, = 8.4 Hz, ArH, ortho to Br), 7.29 (d, 2H, = 8.4 Hz), 7.20 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.14 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.15-5.13 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 4.73 (dd, 1H, = 6.7, 3.3 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.73 (d, 1H, = 3.3 Hz, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 269.1 (M⁺).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 88/12, 254 nm, $_1 = 9.6 \text{ min (major an),i}_2$ = 10.4 min (minor), $\mathbf{n}_3 = 10.8 \text{ min (minor an),i}_4 = 11.6 \text{ min (major). nEe: 95% (an).i}$ 5-[Hydroxy(4-methoxyphenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8d):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with 4-methoxybenzaldehyde (63 µL, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 39 mg (35%) of **8d** as a white solid.

IR: 3357, 1742, 1585, 1510, 1242, 1171, 1101, 1085, 1029, 1008, 877, 827, 814 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.39 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 7.32 (d, 2H, = 8.7 Hz, ArH), 6.93 (d, 2H, = 8.7 Hz, ortho to OCH₃), 6.18 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.15-5.14 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.0 (t, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 3.82 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.26 (d, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.32 (d, 2H, = 8.7 Hz, ArH), 7.16 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.6 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.93 (d, 2H, = 8.7 Hz, ortho to OCH₃), 6.13 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.1 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.15-5.14 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 4.65 (dd, 1H, = 7.1, 3.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 3.82 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.61 (d, 1H, = 3.0 Hz, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 221.0 (M+1), 203.0 ((M-H₂O)+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 90/10, 254 nm, $_1 = 15.1 \text{ min (major an)}, \mathbf{i}_2 = 17.7 \text{ min, (minor an)}, \mathbf{i}_3 = 19.0 \text{ min (minor }), \mathbf{n}_4 = 20.7 \text{ min (major }). \mathbf{n}_{Ee}: 97\%$ (an).i 5-[Hydroxy(2-methoxyphenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8e):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with 2-methoxybenzaldehyde (63 µL, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 64 mg (58%) of **8e** as a colorless liquid.

IR: 3418, 1733, 1601, 1491, 1462, 1238, 1160, 1095, 1036, 1022, 816 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.40 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.0, COCH=CH), 7.34-7.31 (m, 2H, ArH ortho and para to OCH₃), 7.03 (t, 1 H, = 7.5 Hz, ArH, meta to OCH₃), 6.92 (d, 1H, = 8.3, ArH), 6.15 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.38-5.37 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.31 (t, 1H, = 5.7 Hz, ArCHOH), 3.89 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.82 (d, 1H, = 5.7 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.34-7.31 (m, 2H, ArH ortho and para to OCH₃), 7.18 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.1, COCH=CH), 7.03 (t, 1 H, = 7.5 Hz, ArH, meta to OCH₃), 6.92 (d, 1H, = 8.3, ArH), 6.12 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.24-5.23 (br dt, 1H, = 6.6, 1.5, CH=CHCH) 5.02 (t, 1H, = 5.7 Hz, ArCHOH), 3.85 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.06 (d, 1H, = 5.7 Hz, OH); MS (APCI neg.): m 219 (M⁺); APCI pos. m/z 203.0 ((M-H₂O)+1). HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 85/15, 254, ₁ = 8.4 min (major **an**), **i** ₂ = 11.0 min, (minor **an**), **i** ₃ = 12.9 min (major), **n**₄ = 16.3 min (minor). **r**Ee: 96% (**an**).**i**

5-[Hydroxy(3-methoxyphenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8f):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with 3-methoxybenzaldehyde (63 µL, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0. 10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 60 mg (54%) of **8f** as a colorless liquid.

IR: 3420, 1735,1600, 1585, 1489, 1456, 1435, 1256, 1157, 1034, 825 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.35-7.29 (m, 2H, ArH, COCH=CH), 6.97-6.87 (m, 3H, ArH), 6.17 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.18-5.15 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.08 (t, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 3.82 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.73(d, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.35-7.29 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.18 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.4 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.97-6.87 (m, 3H, ArH), 6.12 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.9 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.18-5.15 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 4.68 (dd, 1H, = 7.0, 3.1 Hz, ArCHOH), 3.82 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 2.94 (d, 1H, = 3.1 Hz, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 221.0 (M+1), 203.0 ((M-H₂O)+1). HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 90/10, 210 nm, ₁ = 14.2 min (major an), i ₂ = 18.3 min, (minor an), i ₃ = 20.0 min (minor), n₄ = 21.4 min (major). fEe: 96% (an).i

5-[Hydroxy(4-chlorophenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8g):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with 4-chlorobenzaldehyde (70 mg, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **5** (45 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 56 mg (50%) of **8g** as a white solid.

IR: 3420, 1732, 1491, 1175, 1093, 1078, 1042, 917, 852, 812 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.40-7.31 (m, 5H, ArH, COCH=CH), 6.20 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.15-5.13 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.05 (t, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.38 (d, 1H, = 4.0 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.40-7.31 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.20 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.14 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.15-5.13 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 2.67 (d, 1H, = 3.2 Hz, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 225.0 (M+1), 207.0 ((M-H₂O)+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H hexanes/2-propanol 95/5, 210 nm, $_1 = 21.1 \text{ min (major an),i}_2 = 24.2 \text{ min, (minor an),i}_3 = 25.9 \text{ min (major }), \mathbf{n}_4 = 29.4 \text{ min (minor }). \mathbf{n}_E e: 94\%$ (an).i 5-[Hydroxy(4-nitrophenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8h):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 µL, 1.0 mmol) with 4-nitrobenzaldehyde (76 mg, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 59 mg (50%) of **8h** as a yellow solid.

IR: 3438, 1746, 1515, 1348, 1169, 1103, 1039, 916, 833 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 8.26 (d, 2H, = 8.7 Hz, ArH, ortho to NO₂), 7.63 (d, = 8.7, 2H, ArH), 7.30 (dd, 1H, = 5.9, 1.6 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.17 (dd, 1 H, = 5.9, 1.8 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.21-5.19 (m, 2H, CH=CHCH, ArCHOH), 2.77 (d, 1H, = 3.7 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 8.29 (d, 2H, = 8.7 Hz, ArH, ortho to NO₂), 7.66-7.59 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.21 (m, 1H, COCH=CH), 6.24 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 1.4 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.0-4.98 (m, 2H, CH=CHCH, ArCHOH), 2.59 (d, 1H, = 3.5 Hz, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 236.1 (M+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 95/5, 254 nm, $_1 = 52.4$ min (major **an**),**i** $_2 = 59.1$ min, (major),**fi** 0.5 (minor). In the: >99% (**an**).**i**

5-[Hydroxy(4-trifluoromethylphenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8i):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 L, 1.0 mmol) with 4-trifluoromethylbenzaldehyde (67 μ L, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 78 mg (60%) of **8i** as a colorless solid.

IR: 3413, 1739, 1322, 1161, 1100, 1065, 1040, 1016, 816 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.68 (d, 2H, = 8.1 ArH), 7.55 (d, 2H, = 8.1, ArH), 7.31 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.4 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.21 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.19-5.14 (m, 2H, CH=CHCHO, ArCHOH), 2.38 (d, 1H, = 3.9 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.68 (d, 2H, = 5.7, ArH), 7.55 (d, 2H, = 5.7, ArH), 7.24 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.15 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.19-5.14 (m, 1H, ArCHOH), 2.38 (d, 1H, = 3.4 Hz, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 259.2 (M+1), 241.1 ((M-H₂O)+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 97/3, 254 nm, $_1 = 28.9$ min (major **an**),**i** $_2 = 32.4$ min, (minor **an**).**i**Ee: 95% (**an**).**i**

5-[Hydroxy (naphthalen-2-yl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8j):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 L, 1.0 mmol) with 2-naphthaldehyde (78 mg, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 88 mg (73%) of **8j** as a pale yellow solid.

IR: 3359, 1752, 1731, 1172, 1077, 1041, 824 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* **diastereomer:** δ 7.90-7.85 (m, 4H, Ar**H**), 7.53-7.50 (m, 3H, Ar**H**), 7.36 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.4 Hz COCH=C**H**), 6.19 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 1.9 Hz, COC**H**=CH), 5.29-5.26 (m, 2H, CH=CHC**H**, ArC**H**OH), 2.51 (d, 1H, = 3.7 Hz, O**H**); *Syn* **diastereomer:** δ 7.90-7.85 (m, 4H, Ar**H**), 7.53-7.50 (m, 3H, Ar**H**), 7.18 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.6 Hz, COCH=C**H**), 6.13 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COC**H**=CH), 5.29-5.26 (m, 2H, CH=CHC**H**), 4.88 (dd, 1H, = 7.1, 3.1 Hz, ArC**H**OH), 2.81 (d, 1H, = 3.1 Hz, O**H**); MS (APCI pos.): **m** 241.0 (M+1), 223.0 ((M-H₂O)+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 85/15, 254 nm, $_1 = 9.5 \text{ min (major an),i}_2$ = 11.8 min, (minor an),i $_3 = 12.6 \text{ min (major }),n_4 = 13.6 \text{ min (minor }).nEe: 95% (an).i$ 5-[Hydroxy(cyclohexyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8k):



Reaction of γ-crotonolactone (70 L, 1.0 mmol) with cyclohexanecarboxaldehyde (60 L, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by 5 (45 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 49 mg (50%) of 8k as a white solid.

IR: 3420, 1747, 1715, 1154, 1112, 1096, 1029, 1004, 870, 845 829 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.59 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.4 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.19 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 1.9 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.10 (dt, 1H, = 5.7, 1.6 Hz, CH=CHCH), 3.61 (apparent q, 1H, = 5.6 Hz, ArCHOH), 1.98-1.96 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 1.82-1.54 (m, 4H, CH₂), 1.33-1.10 (m, 6H, CH₂); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.45 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.19 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.9 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.18 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 3.49-3.45 (m, 1H, ArCHOH), 1.98-1.96 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 1.82-1.54 (m, 4H, CH₂); MS (APCI pos.): m 197.0 (M+1), 179.1 ((M-H₂O)+1).

HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 95/5, 210 nm, $_1$ = 15.4 min (major **an**),**i** $_2$ = 17.5 min (major). In the: >99% (**an**).**i** 5-[Hydroxy(naphthalen-1-yl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (8l):



Reaction of γ -crotonolactone (70 L, 1.0 mmol) with 1-naphthaldehyde (68 L, 0.50 mmol) catalyzed by **6** (55 mg, 0.10 mmol) according to the general procedure provided 82 mg (68%) of **8k** as a yellow solid.

IR: 3414, 1730, 1165, 1102, 1081, 1042, 882, 823, 797, 775 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 8.02 (d, 1H, = 8.5 Hz, ArH), 7.93 (d, 1H, = 7.6 Hz, ArH), 7.88 (d, 1H, = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.74 (d, 1H, = 7.2 Hz, ArH), 7.59-7.53 (m, 3H, ArH & COCH=CH), 7.27-7.25 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.20 (dd, 1 H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.98 (t, 1H, = 3.5 Hz, CH=CHCH), 5.44-5.43 (m, 1H, ArCHOH), 2.57 (d, 1H, = 3.8 Hz, OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.98 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.88-7.87 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.74 (d, 1H, = 7.0 Hz, ArH), 7.59-7.53 (m, 3H, ArH & COCH=CH), 7.27-7.25 (m, 1H, ArH), 6.95 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.14 (dd, 1H, = 5.8, 2.0 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.46-5.45 (m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.39 (dt, 1H, = 3.4, 1.6 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.92 (d, 1H, = 3.2 Hz, OH); MS (APCI pos.): m 241.0 (M+1), 223.0 ((M-H₂O)+1). HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 85/15, 254 nm, 1= 8.7 min (major an), i $_2$ = 9.5 min (minor an), i $_3$ = 13.8 min (major), n₄= 17.3 min (minor). nEe: 77% (an).i

2.5 References:

- (a) Ugurchieva, T. M.; Veselovsky, V. V. he2009, e8337; (b)
 Bruckner, R. 2001, he0079; (c) Casiraghi, G.; Zanardi, F.;
 Battistini, L.; Rassu, G.; Appendino, G. hem , **4998**, **11**, 803; (d) Negishi,
 E. –I.; Kotora, M. e ahe1997, n, 6707.
- 2) (a) Casiraghi, G.; Zanardi, F.; Appendino, G.; Rassu, G. hem 2000, 100, 1929; (b) Cafeo, G.; De Rosa, M.; Kohnke, F. H.; Soriente, A.; Talotta, C.; Valenti, L. e 2009, 1, 2594; (c) Ollevier, T.; Bouchard, J.-E.; Desyroy, V. 2008em, 331. (d) De Rosa, M.; Citro, L.; Soriente, A. e ahe 2006, e, 8507; (e) Kong, K.; Romo, D. 2066, 8,

2909. Recent reports on asymmetric vinylogous aldol reaction of silyloxyfurans:

(f) Singh, R. P.; Foxman, B. M.; Deng, L. Am her2010\$1 29558;

(g) Zhu, N.; Ma, B.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, W. **A S n h2010**, **a a2**291;

(h) Frings, M.; Atodiresei, I.; Wang, Y.; Runsink, J.; Raabe, G.; Bolm, C. hem

2010, **1**, 4577; (i) Sedelmeier, J.; Hammerer, T.; Bolm, C.

2007, **2008**, **10**, 917; (j) Nagao, H.; Yamane, Y.; Mukaiyama, T. hem 8; (k) Palombi, L.; Acocella, M. R.; Celenta, N.; Massa, A.; Villano, R.; Scettri, A. е ahe n **A006**, **fnme**300; (1) Onitsuka, S.; Matsuoka, Y.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T. hem 2003, **2**974; (m) Matsuoka, Y.; Irie, R.; Katsuki, T. hem 2003. 2584; (n) Szlosek, M.; Figadere, B. An e hem 2000, **9**1799.

50

е

n

- 3) (a) Sarma, K. D.; Zhang, J.; Curran, T. T. **200ħem 2**3311; (b) Bella, M.; Piancatelli, G.; Squarcia, A. e **ahe2001**, **n**, 4429; (c) Bella, M.; Piancatelli, G.; Squarcia, A.; Trolli, C. ahe **2000**, e **1** 3669; (d) е Saito, S.; Shiozawa, M.; Yamamoto, H. An e hem 1999n **8**1769; (e) Pohmakotr, M.; Tuchinda, P.; Premkaisorn, P.; Reutrakul, V. е ahe 1998, **54**, 11297.
- 4) (a) Ube, H.; Shimada, N.; Terada, M. An e hem **2010**, **9**1858; (b) Yang, Y.; Zheng, K.; Zhao, J.; Lin, L.; Liu, X.; Feng, X. 201**h**em, 5382; (c) Howard, S. J.; Bloom, P. D. Abstracts of Papers, 240th ACS National Meeting 2010, ORGN-980; (d) Luo, J.; Wang, H.; Han, X.; Xu, L.-W.; Kwiatkowski, J.; Huang, K. –W.; Lu, Y. An e hem n . 2011, **Q**1861; (e) Levacher, V.; Oudeyer, S.; Claraz, A. A . S n. ha .2013, , 841; (f) Melchiorre, P.; Escudero, A. E.; Tian, X.; Liu, Y.; Bastida, D. e. 2013, . 1,220.
- 5) (a) Okino, T.; Hoashi, Y.; Takemoto, Y. **Am hem 2903, 12**, 12672; (b) Okino, T.; Hoashi, Y.; Furukawa, T.; Xu, X.; Takemoto, Y. Am hem S 2005, 12, 119; (c) Song, J.; Wang, Y.; Deng, L. Am hen2006\$128 6048; (d) Liu, T.-Y.; Long, J.; Li, B.-J.; Jiang, L.; Li, R.; Wu, Y.; Ding, L.-S.; Chen, Y.-C. 2006, ,happi7; (e) Li, B.-J.; Jiang, L.; Liu, M.; i m Chen, Y.-C.; Ding, L.-S.; Wu, Y. S n 2005, 603; (f) Ye, J.; Dixon, D. J.; Hynes, P. S. **m2005**,**n**4481; (g) Zhu, Y.; Malerich, J. P.; Rawal, V. hem H. **An** hem 2010<u>,</u> **9**153; (h) Konishi, H.; Lam, T.; Malerich, J. е

n

P.; Rawal, V. H.
2010, 12, 2028; (i) Qian, Y.; Ma, G.; Lv, A.; Zhu, H. L.; Zhao, J.; Rawal, V. H. hem m2110, , 3004; (j) Malerich, J. P.;
Hagihara, K.; Rawal, V. H. Am her2008\$1 014416.

- 6) a) Sohtome, Y.; Nagasawa, K. S n 2910, 1; (b) Taylor, M. S.; Jacobsen, E. N.
 An e hem 2006n, 1520; (c) Pihko, P. M. An e hem n
 2004, 2062; (d) Schreiner, P. R. hem S e 2003, 2289.
- 7) Hoge, G. Am her2003,\$12, 10219.
- 8) Prevost, S.; Phansavath, P.; Haddad, M. e ahe n **A010**, **21**me.
- Hoveyda, A. H.; Snapper, M. L.; Carswell, E. L. An e hem 2006n , 7230.

2.6 Selected ¹H NMR spectra



,,\OH 0= O 8a (*syn*) CDCl₃, 500 MHz 5.59 H д H₀₁ H H_20.1 10.5 7.5 7.0 6.5 6.0 3.0 -0.5 10.0 9.5 9.0 8.5 8.0 5.5 5.0 f1 (ppm) 4.5 4.0 3.5 2.5 2.0 1.5 1.0 0.5 0.0

EKP-3421D/1 EKP-03-38C (CDCl3)












2.7 Selected HPLC chromatograms



0 02 2 . 0 02 4 . 0 02 6 . 0 02 8 . 0 03 0 . 0 03 2 . 0 03 4 . 0 0 00 6.











CHAPTER 3

Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and

(2S,3R)-3-Hydroxypipecolic Acid: Application of an Organocatalytic

Direct Vinylogous Aldol Reaction

This Chapter is based on the following publication:

Pansare, S. V.; Paul, E. K. Org. Bi @m2012, 1 02109+2125.

Contributions of authors

- S. V. Pansare: research supervisor, manuscript preparation.
- E. K. Paul: experimental work, manuscript preparation.

3.1 Introduction

The piperidine motif is found in numerous biologically relevant natural products¹ as well as in medicinal and pharmaceutical agents,² and the synthesis of functionalized piperidines has therefore continued to engage synthetic chemists over the years.³ Stereoselective routes to aryl substituted⁴ and hydroxylated piperidines⁵ have been extensively investigated. In particular, the biological activity and the synthesis of a variety of 2,3-disubstituted piperdines has attracted considerable interest. This is perhaps best exemplified by the synthetic efforts directed towards the neurokinin receptor antagonists (+)-L-733,060⁶ and (+)-CP-99,994;⁷ as well as (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid,⁸ a constituent of the antibiotic tetrazomine (Figure 3.1). The following sections describe organocatalysis based enantioselective syntheses of these three targets.



Figure 3.1. Biologically active 2,3-disubstituted piperidines targeted in this study.

3.2 Known synthetic routes to (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and (2S,3R)-

3-hydroxypipecolic acid

The following summary provides an overview of the reported syntheses of (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid from 2010 onwards.

3.2.1 Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060

In 2010, Garrido and coworkers reported^{6a} an enantioselective synthesis of (+)-L-733,060. The synthesis starts with the Baylis-Hillman reaction of methylacrylate 1 and benzaldehyde 2 (Scheme 3.1). The Baylis-Hillman adduct 3 obtained was treated with acetic anhydride and pyridine to give 4. A domino reaction (stereoselective Ireland-Claisen rearrangement of the enolate derived from 4 followed by a Michael addition of 5 to the resulting compound) of 4 and chiral lithium amide 5 afforded optically pure γ substituted δ -aminoacid 6. Hydrogenolysis of 6 using Pd/C in AcOH and subsequent i n s i lactamization gave 7. The methyl ketone 9 was obtained by converting the piperidin-2-one 7 into Weinreb amide 8 followed by addition of methylmagnesium bromide. Baeyer-Villiger oxidation of 9 with urea hydrogen peroxide (UHP) provided lactam 10. The lactam 10 was reduced using $LiAlH_4$ and subsequent treatment with $(Boc)_2O$, afforded the N-Boc amino alcohol 11. The inversion of hydroxyl group is necessary for the synthesis of (+)-L-733,060. Oxidation of 11 with NMO/TPAP followed by stereoselective reduction using CeCl₃ and NaBH₄, gave the desired piperidine 13. O-Alkylation of 13 with 3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)benzyl bromide followed by deprotection provided (+)-L-733,060 (12 steps from Baylis-Hillman adduct 3, 5.6% overall yield).



Scheme 3.1. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060 by Garrido.

In the same year, Haddad and coworkers reported^{6b} the synthesis of (+)-L-733,060 (Scheme 3.2). The synthesis began with the addition of phenyllithium to ethyl glycidate 14 to provide epoxyketone 15. Reductive amination of 15 gave the corresponding a \cap atminoepoxide 16 as a single diastereomer after flash chromatography. The aminoepoxide was treated with di-t \oplus but to provide the oxazolidinone 17 through regioselective intramolecular epoxide opening. The oxazolidinone 17 was treated with NaOH/EtOH followed by a selective protection of the primary alcohol as t e-btutyldimethylsilyl ether to provide the amino alcohol **18**. Hydrogenolysis of **18** with Pd/C in the presence of di-t e-btutyldicarbonate afforded **19**. Oxazolidine **20** was obtained by the treatment of **19** with 2,2-dimethoxypropane followed by the deprotection of primary alcohol. Oxidation of **20** using Dess-Martin periodinane (DMP) gave the corresponding aldehyde, which was then subjected to a Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons reaction to provide the ester **21**. Unmasking of the 1,2-amino alcohol moiety in **21** followed by hydrogenation provided the saturated ester, which underwent i rs i t u cyclization to form the piperidinone **22**. Reduction of **22** using LiAlH₄ followed by treatment with (Boc)₂O, provided the N-Boc aminoalcohol **13**. O-Alkylation of **13** with 3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)benzyl bromide followed by deprotection provided (+)-L-733,060 (16 steps from ethyl glycidate **14**, 5.3% overall yield).



Scheme 3.2. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060 by Haddad.

3.2.2 Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994

Garrido and coworkers reported^{6a} an enantioselective synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 (Scheme 3.3). The ketone **12** undergoes reductive amination followed by deprotection provided (+)-CP-99,994. The synthesis of ketone **12** is described in Scheme 3.1.



Scheme 3.3. Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 by Garrido.

In 2012, Bhat and coworkers reported^{7d} an enantioselective synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 (Scheme 3.4). The synthesis began with enantiomerically pure L-ornithine **24**, which was protected with benzyl chloroformate to afford **25** in excellent yield. Compound **25** was converted to N-methoxy-N-methylamide **26** which was treated with phenylmagnesium bromide at -78 °C in THF to provide ketone **27**. The diaminophenylketone **27** was treated with trimethylsilyl triflate and triethylsilane at -78 °C to afford the piperidine derivative **28** with good diastereoselectivity (24/1) resulting from cyclization of **27** \vee i **an** N-acyliminium ion. Deprotection of **28** followed by reductive N-alkylation of the primary amine with 2-methoxybenzaldehyde provided CP-99,994 (7 steps from L-ornithine **24**, 40% overall yield).



Scheme 3.4. Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 by Bhat.

3.2.3. Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid

In 2010, Lee and coworkers reported^{8b} a synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid. The synthesis started from monoprotected amino alcohol **29** (Scheme 3.5), which was obtained from butane-1,4-diol in three steps. The amino alcohol **29** was added to optically active acetylenic sulfoxide **30** under basic conditions (Et₃N, DMAP) to afford sulfonamide **31** as a 5/1 Z:E mixture. After separation, Z-**31** was oxidized to aldehyde **32** with 2-iodoxybenzoic acid (IBX). A highly diastereoselective radical cyclization took place, when aldehyde **32** was treated with SmI₂ in methanol and the only product formed was the 3-hydroxypiperidine **33** (d r= 100:0, 72%). After protection of the alcohol as a t \oplus buttyldimethylsilyl ether (TBSCl, imidazole, DMAP), a Pummerer rearrangement was performed and reduction of the Pummerer product gave the primary alcohol **34**. The hydroxypiperidine **34** was oxidized in two steps (DMP, followed by NaClO₂) to the corresponding carboxylic acid. After a deprotection with cesium fluoride, (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid was obtained (8 steps from **29**, 19% overall yield).



Scheme 3.5. Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid by Lee.

A strategy involving ring-closing metathesis (RCM) to build the piperidine core of 3-hydroxypipecolic acid by C–C bond formation was reported recently by Chattopadhyay.^{8f} Serinol derivative **35** was protected as a benzyl ether followed by the oxazolidine ring opening under acidic conditions to provide **36** (Scheme 3.6). Swern oxidation of **36** provided the corresponding aldehyde. Treatment of the aldehyde with vinylmagnesium bromide afforded \leq y-aftlylic alcohol **37** as the major isomer (d \approx 6.7:1). Unfortunately, the \leq y isomer could not be separated from the minor a n tsomer **38**. After conversion of the mixture of **37** and **38** into their MOM ether derivatives and N- allylation (NaH, allyl bromide), the pure S y isomer **39** was separated by column chromatography. Ring-closing metathesis (RCM) of **39** with the first-generation Grubbs catalyst **40** gave the desired dehydropiperidine derivative **41**. Hydrogenation of **41** afforded the piperidine derivative **42**, which was subjected to a two-step oxidation (DMP and Pinnick oxidation) to furnish the carboxylic acid. Deprotection of the Boc and MOM groups under acidic conditions provided the desired (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid (11 steps from **35**, 10.5% overall yield).



Scheme 3.6. Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid by Chattopadhyay.

3.3 Results and Discussions

The 2-substituted 3-hydroxy piperidine motif **A** is accessible by the rearrangement of 5-(1-aminoalkyl or -aminoaryl) butyrolactones **B** (Figure 3.2).⁹ The aminobutyrolactones can, in turn, be obtained from the corresponding hydroxy precursors **C**, which are typically obtained by stereoselective vinylogous Mukaiyama aldol reactions of 2-siloxyfurans and aldehydes^{.10} However, a much simpler route to stereodefined 5-(1-hydroxyalkyl/aryl) butenolides involves the organocatalytic, direct vinylogous aldol reaction of γ -crotonolactone (2(5H)-furanone) with aldehydes, a reaction that has received attention only recently.¹¹ Given the structural similarities in the targets of the present study (Figure 3.1), it appeared that a suitably functionalized butyrolactone could potentially be employed as a common synthetic precursor to achieve most of the objectives. In addition, this synthetic strategy would also highlight the utility of the organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol (ODVA) reaction (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. The organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol route to functionalized piperidines.

Our studies therefore began with the synthesis of **45** (Scheme 3.7) and its conversion to (5S,6S)-5-hydroxy-6-phenylpiperidin-2-one (**22**) which is an advanced precursor to (+)-L-733,060 and (+)-CP-99,994. Initially, the direct vinylogous aldol reaction of commercially available γ -crotonolactone and benzaldehyde was examined in the presence of selected aminothiourea and aminosquaramide catalysts derived from diphenylethylenediamine, 1,2-cyclohexane diamine and amines obtained from cinchona alkaloids. The details of these studies were described in Chapter 2 (pages 27-32). Extensive optimization studies with these catalysts revealed the aminosquaramide **44**¹² as the most efficient catalyst in terms of the yield, diastereoselectivity and enantioselectivity for the aldol product.^{11c} Thus, the direct vinylogous aldol reaction of γ -crotonolactone with benzaldehyde provided the butenolide **45** in good yield and diastereoselectivity (74%, a n/s ý f 8/1) and excellent enantiomeric excess (>99% e efor the a n t i diastereomer) when the reaction was conducted in dichloromethane at ambient temperature (Scheme 3.7).



Scheme 3.7. Conversion of aldol product to lactam employing ODVA reaction.

The aldol product **45** (as a diastereomeric mixture) was easily converted to the lactam **22** \vee i **a** series of simple transformations. Hydrogenation of **45** to the butyrolactone **46**, subsequent mesylation of the secondary alcohol to give **47** and displacement of the mesylate, with inversion of configuration, by azide anion gave the azido butyrolactone **48**. It should be mentioned that the attempted mesylation of **45** exclusively resulted in its dehydration (Scheme 3.8).



Scheme 3.8. Dehydration of aldol product.

The unwanted dehydration side reaction is effectively prevented by prior reduction of the double bond in **44**. Reduction of the azide (H₂, Pd/C) generated a mixture of the corresponding amino butyrolactone and the required piperidone **22** resulting from an intramolecular N-acylation of the amino lactone. Notably, hydrogenation of the azide in the presence of a base (K₂CO₃) significantly facilitated this rearrangement to directly provide **22** without any residual amino lactone. At this stage, C \vdash **23** was easily separated from the minor (t $\Gamma \Rightarrow$ dhastereomer by flash chromatography and all further transformations were carried out with diastereomerically pure C \vdash **23**. The overall conversion of **44** to **22** is quite efficient (76% yield over four steps) and can be conducted without purification of any of the intermediates.



Scheme 3.9. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060.

Reduction of the piperidinone **22** with borane^{6e} provided the corresponding piperidine (**50**, 96%) (Scheme 3.9), which was converted to the N-Boc derivative **13**. The conversion of **13** to the neurokinin receptor antagonist targets was achieved by adaptation and some modification of previously described methods (Scheme 3.9). O-Alkylation of **13** with 3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)benzylbromide followed by deprotection provided (+)-L-733,060 (9 steps from benzaldehyde, 24.8% overall yield).

The synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 required the synthesis of ketone 12 and subsequent reductive amination (Scheme 3.11), and both of these steps required detailed attention to the reaction conditions. Oxidation of 13 with Dess-Martin periodinane provided the 3-piperidinone 12 (77%, 94% e)e Notably, in our hands, the enantiomeric excess of 12 was dependent on the method of oxidation and the DMP procedure¹³ is by far the best for obtaining 12 in good yield and high enantiomeric excess. Oxidation of 13 with IBX or IBX/DMSO with heating led to 12 with diminished e as compared to 13. Swern oxidation of 13 is reported to provide 12 without racemization.¹⁴ In the present

study, Swern oxidation of **13** (96% e e provided **12** with 76% e eOximation of **12** obtained i n from the Swern oxidation of **13** (e \oplus f **13** = 93%), eventually provided CP-99,994 with 60% e eSimilarly, the reaction of **12** (87% e) with methoxylamine hydrochloride in pyridine as the solvent¹³ subsequently provided CP-99,994 with 50% e e Changing the solvent to ethanol and employing only the necessary amount of pyridine was found to be important for minimizing the racemization of **12**. Likewise, direct imination of **12** with the appropriate amine (see the reported conversion of **12** to **23** described in Scheme 3.3, page 73),^{6a} with or without Lewis acid catalysis, eventually provided racemic CP-99,994. These observations suggest that **12** is prone to racemization if it is heated or exposed to excess base and that the extent of racemization, under these conditions, may depend on variables that are difficult to regulate. A proposed mechanism for the racemization of **12** is shown in Scheme 3.10.



Scheme 3.10. A proposed mechanism for the racemization of 12.

Oximation of **12** with methoxylamine by a significant modification of the reported procedure¹³ (ethanol instead of pyridine as the solvent) gave the corresponding oxime ether which was reduced stereoselectively to the amine **51** (Scheme 3.11). Reductive N-alkylation of **51** with 2-methoxybenzaldehyde followed by deprotection provided (+)-CP-99,994 (11 steps from benzaldehyde, 16.9% overall yield).



Scheme 3.11. Synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 employing ODVA reaction.

We next investigated the synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid. This particular diastereomer of 3-hydroxypipecolic acid has been the subject of numerous investigations and it continues to attract interest from synthetic chemists.^{8a-f} At the outset, it seemed reasonable that direct oxidation of the phenyl ring in the O-acetyl derivative of N-Boc-(2R,3R)-2-phenyl-3-hydroxypiperidine (e **P1B**), which was obtained by employing the enantiomer of catalyst **44**, would lead us to the pipecolic acid target.

However, attempted oxidation¹⁵ (RuCl₃/NaIO₄) of this substrate invariably led to a mixture of products, none of which corresponded to the required carboxylic acid. Interestingly, a change in the N-protecting group^{8c,16} was beneficial. Accordingly, (2R,3R)-2-phenyl-3-hydroxypiperidine **52** was first converted to the N,O-bis (trifluoroacetyl) derivative and the trifluoroacetate ester was selectively replaced with an acetate to provide **53** (Scheme 3.12). Oxidation of the phenyl ring in **53**, with RuCl₃/NaIO₄, now proceeded smoothly to provide the corresponding carboxylic acid. Methanolysis of the trifluoroacetamide and the acetate in this intermediate gave (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid (10 steps from benzaldehyde, 28.1% overall yield).



Scheme 3.12. Synthesis of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid from 52.

3.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, we have achieved the synthesis of three representative members of the 2,3-disubstituted class of bioactive piperidines from the butenolide **45**. The syntheses developed in this study are based on an organocatalytic vinylogous aldol reaction as the pivotal step. Notably, ketone **12** is also a starting material in the synthesis of spirocyclic NK-1 receptor antagonists.^{14b,17} The methodology presented here has potential use in the

preparation of libraries of antagonists, related to the those described here, by variation of the aldehyde in the direct vinylogous aldol step.

3.5 Experimental section

All commercially available reagents were used without purification. All reactions requiring anhydrous conditions were performed under an atmosphere of dry nitrogen using oven dried glassware. Dichloromethane and tetrahydrofuran were distilled from CaH₂ and sodium/benzophenone respectively. Commercial precoated silica gel plates were used for TLC. Silica gel for column chromatography was 230-400 mesh. All melting points are uncorrected. Optical rotations were measured at the sodium D line on a digital polarimeter at ambient temperature. Compounds **45**, **13**, **13a** and **51a** were prepared by literature methods. The conversion of **13a** to (+)-L-733,060 and of **51a** to (+)-CP-99,994 was achieved by literature methods.

(S)-5-[(R)-Hydroxy(phenyl)methyl]furan-2(5H)-one (45):



To the catalyst (20 mol %, 1.0 g) in a 25 mL round bottom flask was added benzaldehyde (970 μ L, 9.14 mmol) followed by 2-(5H)-furanone **43** (1.28 mL, 18.3 mmol) and dichloromethane (5.0 mL). The mixture was stirred for 10 days at room temperature. The mixture was diluted with ethyl acetate (30 mL) and aqueous 2 N HCl (30 mL) was added. The organic layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with ethyl acetate (2 x 30 mL). The combined extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), and concentrated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (CH₂Cl₂/EtOAc, 10/1) to give **45** as a pale yellow solid (1.73 g, 74%). The diastereometic composition (a n/st \dot{y} =n8/1) was determined by

¹H NMR analysis of the crude product. The enantiomeric excess was determined by HPLC (Chiralpak AS-H, hexanes/2-propanol 90/10, 254 nm, $t_1 = 32.6$ min (minor a n),t i $t_2 = 37.7$ min (minor s y), $rt_3 = 53.1$ min (major s y), $rt_4 = 70.5$ min (major a n).t Ele: > 99% (anti)). In repeated experiments an ee range of 97 to > 99% was observed.

IR: 3432, 3084, 2877, 2360, 2342, 1727, 1453, 1167, 1083, 1067, 1039, 820 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.43-7.34 (m, 6H, ArH and COCH=CH), 6.19 (dd, 1H, J = 5.8, 1.9 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.19-5.18 (br m, 1H, CH=CHCH), 5.09 (br t, 1H, J = 4.1 Hz, ArCHOH), 2.25 (d, 1H, J = 3.8 Hz, OH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 173.1 (C=O), 152.9 (CH=CH-C=O), 138.3 (ArC), 128.8 (ArC), 128.6 (ArC), 126.1 (ArC), 123.2 (CH=CH-C=O), 86.6 (CH-O-C=O), 73.1 (CH-OH); *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.42-7.36 (m, 5H, ArH), 7.17 (dd, 1H, J = 5.8, 1.5 Hz, COCH=CH), 6.13 (dd, 1H, J = 5.8, 2 Hz, COCH=CH), 5.17 (apparent dt, 1H, J = 7.0, 1.5 Hz, CDCl₃): δ 172.4 (C=O), 153.0 (CH=CH-C=O), 137.7 (ArC), 129.1 (ArC), 128.8 (ArC), 126.8 (ArC), 123.1 (CH=CH-C=O), 86.9 (CH-O-C=O), 75.8 (CH-OH); MS (APCI, pos.): m / 191.0 (M+1).

5-Benzylidenefuran-2(2H)-one (49):



Triethylamine (292 μ L, 2.10 mmol) was added slowly to an ice cold solution of **45** (200 mg, 1.05 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂, followed by the addition of methane sulfonyl chloride (122 μ L, 1.57 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred for 1 h at 0 °C and water (20 mL) was

added at 0 °C. The mixture was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (2 x 20 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated to provide 130 mg (72%) of **49** as a yellow oil.

IR: 3064, 1705, 1630, 1492, 1214, 1164, 819, 699 cm⁻¹; ¹H-NMR (500 MHz, CDCl3) *E*isomer: δ 7.82 (1H, d, J = 5.6 Hz), 7.38-7.36 (5H, m), 6.80 (1H, s), 6.35 (1H, dd, J = 5.5, 1.8 Hz), *Z* isomer: δ 7.80 (2H, d, J = 7.4 Hz), 7.50 (1H, d, J = 5.3 Hz), 7.49-7.33 (3H, m), 6.23 (1H, d, J = 5.3 Hz), 6.04 (1H, s); MS (APCI pos.): m / 192.3 (M+1).

(S)-Dihydro-5-[(R)-(hydroxy(phenyl)methyl]furan-2(3H)-one (45):



Pd/C (10%, 75 mg) was added to a stirred solution of **45** (750 mg, 3.94 mmol) in EtOAc (10.0 mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 4 h at room temperature under a balloon filled with H₂. The mixture was filtered through Celite and the filter cake was washed with EtOAc (2 x 30 mL). The combined filtrates were concentrated under reduced pressure to provide 758 mg (99%) of **46** as a white solid (S $y'ann \neq 8/1$). This was pure by ¹H NMR and was used in the next step without purification.

IR: 3391, 1753, 1453, 1370, 1182, 1042, 992 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.39-7.32 (m, 5H, ArH), 5.13 (d, 1H, J = 2.7 Hz, CHOH), 4.72-4.65 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 2.59-2.50 (m, 2H, CH₂C=O, CHCH₂), 2.5-2.4 (m, 1H, CH₂C=O), 2.32-2.24 (m, 1H, CH₂CH-O), 1.97-1.90 (m, 1H, CH₂CH-O); **Visible peaks for the** *syn* diastereomer: δ 4.65-4.60 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 2.06-2.01 (m, 1H, CH₂CHO). ¹³C NMR (75

MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 177.6 (CH₂CO), 138.4 (ArC), 128.7 (ArC), 128.2 (ArC), 126.0 (ArC), 83.3 (CH₂CHO), 73.5 (CHOH), 28.6 (CH₂CO), 20.7 (CH₂CHO);
Visible peaks for the *syn* diastereomer: δ 176.8 (CH₂CO), 138.3 (ArC), 128.8 (ArC), 128.2 (ArC), 127.0 (ArC), 83.4 (CH₂CHO), 77.2 (CHOH), 28.5 (CH₂CO), 24.0 (CH₂CHO); MS (EI pos): m /: ‡93.1 (M+1).

(S)-Dihydro-5-[(R)-(methylsulfonyl)(phenyl)methyl]furan-2(3H)-one (47):



Triethyl amine (626 µL, 4.50 mmol) was added slowly to an ice cold solution of **46** (720 mg, 3.75 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂, followed by the addition of methane sulfonyl chloride (349 µL, 4.50 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred for 1 h at 0 °C and water (20 mL) was added at 0 °C. The mixture extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 20 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated to provide 1.10 g (>99%) of **47** as a yellow oil. This was pure by ¹H NMR and was used in the next step without purification.

IR: 3027, 2938, 1775, 1351, 1171, 1031, 944, 912, 874, 836 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.35 (m, 5H, ArH), 5.73 (d, 1H, J = 3.9 Hz, HC-OSO₂Me), 4.86-4.80 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 2.91 (s, 3H, CH₃), 2.50-2.40 (m, 2H, CH₂C=O), 2.28-2.09 (m, 2H, CHCH₂); **Visible peaks for the** *syn* diastereomer: δ 5.52 (d, 1H, J = 5.7 Hz, HCOSO₂Me), 2.89 (s, 3H, CH₃); 13C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl3): *anti*: δ 176.1, 133.5, 129.6, 129.1, 126.9, 82.8, 80.4, 39.0, 27.7, 22.1; *syn*: δ 176.0, 133.7, 130.0, 129.2,

127.5, 84.3, 80.3, 39.3, 27.9, 24.2; MS (API-ES) m / 270.4 (M⁺); HRMS (CI): 271.0640 (271.0640 calc. for C₁₂H₁₅O₅S, M + H).

(S)-5-[(S)-Azido(phenyl)methyl]-dihydrofuran-2(3H)-one (48):



Sodium azide (1.22 g, 18.7 mmol) was added to the crude mesylate **47** (1.10 g, 4.07 mmol) in DMF (5.0 mL) and the mixture was stirred at 80 °C for 4 h. The mixture was cooled to room temperature and EtOAc (30 mL) was added followed by water (30 mL). The resulting biphase was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with EtOAc (2 x 30 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered and concentrated to provide 838 mg (>99%) of **48** as a yellow oil. This was pure by ¹H NMR and was used in the next step without purification.

IR: 2101, 1774, 1455, 1250, 1175, 1148, 1066, 990, 913 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): *Syn* diastereomer: δ 7.44-7.35 (m, 5H, ArH), 4.71-4.61 (m, 1H, CH-CH₂), 4.60 (d, 1H, J = 5.9 Hz, CHN₃), 2.48-2.34 (m, 2H, CH₂C=O), 2.15-2.05 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 2.05-1.95 (m, 1H, CHCH₂); **Visible peaks for the** *anti* diastereomer: δ 4.90 (d, 1H, J = 4.2 Hz, CHN₃), 2.58-2.45 (m, CH₂C=O), 2.25-2.15 (m, CHCH₂); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): *Syn* diastereomer: δ 176.2 (C=O), 134.5 (ArC_{ipso}), 129.2 (ArC), 127.8 (ArC), 127.2 (ArC), 81.2 (O-CH), 68.5 (HCN₃), 28.0 (CH₂C=O), 24.6 (CH₂CH); **Visible peaks for the** *anti* diastereomer: δ 176.4 (C=O), 134.6 (ArC_{ipso}), 129.1 (ArC), 129.0 (ArC),

81.4 (O-CH), 67.8 (HCN₃), 28.1 (CH₂C=O), 22.3 (CH₂CH); MS (EI pos.): m/z 218.1 (M+1); HRMS (APCI pos.): m / 218.0972 (218.0930 calc. for C₁₁H₁₂N₃O₂ (M+H)).

(5*S*,6*S*)-5-Hydroxy-6-phenylpiperidin-2-one (22):



To a stirred solution of 48 (810 mg, 4.24 mmol) in methanol (5.0 mL) was added K₂CO₃ (160 mg, 1.16 mmol) followed by Pd/C (10%, 81 mg). The reaction mixture was stirred for 4 h at room temperature under a balloon filled with H₂ and then filtered through a pad of Celite. The filter cake was washed with MeOH (2 x 30 mL) and the combined filtrates were concentrated under reduced pressure to provide a yellow gum. This was purified by flash chromatography on silica gel (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH, 95/5 as the eluant) to provide 543 mg (76%) of C i-23 as a fluffy white solid and 91.0 mg (13%) of t r a22 as a white solid. *Cis* diastereomer: Mp: 99 °C (lit.^{6b} mp. 92 °C); IR: 3360, 3197, 2945, 1643, 1461, 1399, 1351, 1318, 1197, 1069, 986, 942 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.44-7.41 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.37-7.33 (m, 3H, ArH), 5.85 (br s, 1H, CONH), 4.67 (d, 1H, J = 2.7 Hz, CHAr), 4.08 (br s, 1H, CHOH), 2.76-2.69 (m, 1H, CH₂C=O), 2.41-2.37 (m, 1H, CH₂C=O), 2.15-2.13 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 2.04-2.01 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 1.69 (s, 1H, OH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 172.3 (C=O), 137.9 (ArC_{inso}), 129.2 (ArC), 128.7 (ArC), 127.0 (ArC), 66.2 (CHOH), 61.9 (CHAr), 26.7 (CHCH₂), 26.07 (CH₂C=O); MS (APCI, pos.) m / 192.1 (M+1); HRMS (EI): 191.0950 (191.0946 calc. for $C_{11}H_{13}NO_2$ (M+H)); $[\alpha]_D^{23} = +55.3$ (C 1.06, CH₂Cl₂), lit. $[\alpha]_D^{25} = +52.0 (c 1.1, CH_2Cl_2).^{6b}$
Trans diastereomer: IR: 3237, 2364, 1631, 1581, 1485, 1446, 1349, 1333, 1175, 1076, 945, 801 cm⁻¹. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.45-7.40 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.40-7.35 (m, 3H, ArH), 5.70 (br s, 1H, CONH), 4.69 (d, J = 2.8 Hz, 1H, CHAr), 4.10 (br s, 1H, CHOH), 2.77 (ddd, 1H, J = 18.0, 11.9, 6.5 Hz, CH₂CO), 2.43 (ddd, 1H, J = 18.0, 6.2, 2.8 Hz, CH₂CO), 2.19-2.15 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 2.07-2.03 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 1.47 (br t, 1H, J = 1.5 Hz, OH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 172.2 (C=O), 137.8 (ArC_{ipso}), 129.2 (ArC), 128.8 (ArC), 127.0 (ArC), 66.3 (CHOH), 61.9 (CHAr), 26.7 (CHCH₂), 26.1 (CH₂C=O); MS (APCI pos.): m / £92.3 (M⁺); $[\alpha]_D^{23} = +26.0$ (c 1.0 , MeOH); lit. $[\alpha]_D^{23} = +31.6$ (c 0.75, MeOH).¹⁸

(2*S*,3*S*)-2-Phenylpiperidin-3-ol (50):



Borane-THF complex (4.70 mL, 4.68 mmol) was added to $C \models 22$ (300 mg, 1.56 mmol), and the mixture was heated to reflux for 5 h. The mixture was cooled to 0 °C, aqueous HCl (3 M, 12.0 mL) was added and the mixture was stirred for 30 min. at room temperature. The mixture was then concentrated to dryness under reduced pressure and the residue was basified with 5% aqueous NaOH at 0 °C to pH~10. The resulting mixture was extracted with EtOAc, dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated to provide **50** as a white solid (267 mg, 96%). This was pure by ¹H NMR and was used in the next step without purification.

Mp: 90-93 °C; IR: 3274, 2926, 2851, 1447, 1323, 1089, 1054, 1053, 989 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.35-7.32 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.32-7.24 (m, 2H, ArH), 3.86 (br s, 1H, CHAr), 3.78 (br s, 1H, CHOH), 3.22-3.19 (m, 1H, NCH₂), 2.81 (dt, 1H, J = 12.1, 2.8 Hz, NCH₂), 2.02-1.92 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 1.89-1.84 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 1.74-1.67 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂N), 1.52-1.48 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂N); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 142.0 (ArC_{ipso}), 128.5 (ArC), 127.3 (ArC), 126.6 (ArC), 68.9 (CHOH), 65.0 (CHAr), 47.5 (NCH₂), 32.0 (CHCH₂), 19.9 (CH₂CH₂N); MS (APCI, pos.): m / t78.1 (M+1); HRMS (EI): 177.1153 (177.1154 calcd for C₁₁H₁₅NO); $[\alpha]_D^{23} = +66.45$ (c 0.62, CHCl₃).

(2S,3S)-tert-Butyl 3-hydroxy-2-phenylpiperidine-1-carboxylate (13):



To a solution of **50** (500 mg, 2.82 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (5.0 mL) were added di-t \oplus butyl dicarbonate (616 mg, 2.82 mmol), 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (25 mg, 0.20 mmol) and triethylamine (431 µL, 3.10 mmol) at 0 °C. The solution was stirred at room temperature for 3 h, saturated aqueous NH₄Cl was added and the resulting mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (2 x 20 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated. Purification of the residue by flash chromatography on silica gel (hexanes/EtOAc, 7/3) afforded 663 mg (85%) of **13** as colorless oil.

IR: 3452, 2937, 1661, 1413, 1362, 1255, 1175, 1141, 1074, 1024, 962, 871 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.45 (d, 2H, J = 7.6 Hz, ArH), 7.34 (t, 2H, J = 7.6 Hz, ArH),

7.28-7.26 (m, 1H, ArH), 5.33 (d, 1H, J = 5.4 Hz, CHAr), 4.1-4.06 (m, 1H, CHOH), 4.01 (dd, J = 4.9 Hz, 13.2 Hz, 1H, NCH₂), 3.04 (dt, J = 3.9 Hz, 13.2, 1H, NCH₂), 1.84-1.67 (m, 3H, CH₂CH₂), 1.67-1.62 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂), 1.58 (s, 1H, OH), 1.37 (s, 9H, C(CH₃)₃); ¹³C NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): δ 155.4 (C=O), 138.4 (ArC_{ipso}), 128.4 (ArC), 127.2 (ArC), 79.9 (C(CH₃)₃), 70.1 (CHOH), 59.3 (CHAr), 39.5 (CH₂N), 28.3 ((CH₃)₃, 27.7 (CHCH₂), 23.1 (NCH₂CH₂); MS (APCI, pos.): m / t78.1 ((M-Boc)+1); $[\alpha]_D^{23} = +42.3$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃), lit. $[\alpha]_D^{24} = +42.6$ (c 0.54, CHCl₃).^{6b}

(2*S*,3*S*)*-tert*-Butyl-3-[3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)benzyloxy]-2-phenylpiperidine-1carboxylate (13a):



To a solution of **13** (60 mg, 0.22 mmol) in DMF/THF (3:1, 1.0 mL) under N₂ at 0 °C was added sodium hydride (95%, 16 mg, 0.65 mmol). The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 30 min. and 3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)benzyl bromide (0.10 g, 0.33 mmol) was added at 0 °C. The mixture was stirred 16 h at room temperature, after which water (5.0 mL) added at 0 °C and the mixture was extracted with Et_2O (2 x 10 mL) The combined organic layers were washed with brine, dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography on silica gel (hexanes/EtOAc, 9/1) to give 57 mg (52%) of **13a** as colorless oil.

IR: 2939, 1686, 1411, 1357, 1276, 1175, 1128, 885 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.77 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.71 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.55 (d, 2H, J = 7.7 Hz, ArH), 7.33 (t, 2H, J = 7.7 Hz, ArH), 7.27-7.25 (m, 1H, ArH), 5.69 (br s, 1H, CHAr), 4.73 (AB system, 2H, J = 12.6 Hz, CH₂Ar), 3.96-3.90 (m, 1H, NCH₂ or CHO), 3.90-3.86 (m, 1H, NCH₂ or CHO), 2.77 (dt, J = 13.1, 3.2 Hz, 1H, NCH₂), 2.01-1.96 (m, 2H, CHCH₂), 1.74-1.70 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂N), 1.70-1.60 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂N), 1.46 (s, 9H, C(CH₃)₃); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 155.3 (C=O), 141.0 (ArC), 138.01 (ArC), 131.6 (q, J = 33.3 Hz, CF₃), 128.4 (ArC), 128.3 (ArC), 127.2 (br, ArC), 127.1 (ArC), 125.1 (ArC), 121.5-121.4 (br, ArC), 80.1 (C(CH₃)₃), 78.7 (CH-O), 69.2 (CH₂Ar), 55.5 (CHAr), 39.2 (NCH₂), 28.4 (C(C H₃)₃), 25.9 (CHCH₂), 24.2 (CH₂CH₂N); MS (APCI, pos.): m / 404.2 ((M-Boc)+1); [α]_D²³ = +39.1 (c 1.0, CHCl₃), lit. [α]_D²⁵ = +27.9 (c 0.8, CHCl₃).⁶e

(2*S*,3*S*)-3-[3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)benzyloxy]-2-phenylpiperidine ((+)-L-733,060):



To a solution **13a** (46 mg, 0.09 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (1.0 mL) was added trifluoroacetic acid (70 μ L, 0.91 mmol) at 0 °C. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 18 h and 10% aqueous NaOH was added at 0 °C. After extraction with CH_2Cl_2 , the combined organic layers were washed with brine, dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered and concentrated to

afford 34 mg (92%) of (+)-L-733,060 as a colorless oil that was pure by 1 H NMR (500 MHz).

IR: 2936, 2858, 1374, 1342, 1276, 1174, 1126, 883, 837 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.69 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.44 (s, 2H, ArH), 7.37 (br d, 2H, J = 7.3 Hz, ArH), 7.32 (br t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H, ArH), 7.27 (m, 1H, ArH), 4.52 (d, 1H, J = 12.5 Hz, CH₂Ar), 4.14 (d, 1H, J = 12.5 Hz, CH₂Ar), 3.85 (s, 1H, CHAr), 3.68 (s, 1H, CHOCH₂Ar), 3.30-3.27 (m, 1H, NCH₂), 2.85 (dt, J = 12.4, 2.8 Hz, 1H, NCH₂), 2.22 (d, 1H, J = 13.9 Hz, CHCH₂), 1.89-1.82 (m, 1H, CHCH₂), 1.77-1.70 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂CH-O), 1.54-1.51 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂CH-O); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 141.4 (ArC), 141.1 (ArC), 131.33 (q, J = 33.2 Hz, CF₃), 128.2 (ArC), 127.5 (ArC), 127.3 (ArC), 126.8 (ArC), 125.1 (ArC), 121.5-121.2 (m, ArC), 77.1 (CH-O), 70.1 (CH₂Ar), 64.2 (CHAr), 46.9 (NCH₂), 28.4 (CH₂CH-O), 20.3 (CH₂CH₂N); MS (APCI pos.): m / **4**04.4 (M⁺); HRMS (CI): m / z 404.1447 (404.1449 calcd for C₂₀H₂₀F₆NO, M+H); [α]_D²³ = +48.6 (c 0.51, CHCl₃); lit. [α]_D²⁴ = +31.7 (c 0.5, CHCl₃)⁶.

(S)-tert-Butyl-3-oxo-2-phenylpiperidine-1-carboxylate (12):



Dess-Martin periodinane (1.07 g, 2.50 mmoles) was added to a solution of alcohol **13** (0.14 g, 0.50 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (3.0 mL) and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h. Saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate (10 mL) was added, the organic layer was

separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with $CHCl_3$ (3 x 30 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine (30 mL), dried (Na_2SO_4), and concentrated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (hexanes/EtOAc, 8/2) to give 106 mg (76%) of **12** as a pale yellow liquid.

IR: 2974, 1690, 1401, 1361, 1247, 1154 (br), 1105, 1031, 967 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.37-7.20 (m, 5H, ArH), 5.65 (br s, 1H, CHAr), 4.08 (br s, 1H, CH₂N), 3.34-3.30 (br m, 1H, CH₂N), 2.51-2.40 (m, 2H, CH₂C=O), 1.98-1.88 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂C=O), 1.43 (br s, 9H, C(CH₃)₃); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 205.5 (CH₂C=O), 155.0 (N-C=O), 135.6 (ArC), 128.9 (ArC), 127.6 (ArC), 125.4 (ArC), 80.7 (C(CH₃)₃), 65.9 (br, CHAr), 40.1 (br, NCH₂), 37.3 (CH₂C=O), 28.2 (C(CH₃)₃), 22.8 (CH₂CH₂N); HRMS (EI pos.): 275.1525 (275.1521 calcd for C₁₆H₂₁NO₃); HPLC: Chiralpak AD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 99/1, 254 nm, t_{major} = 35.7 min, t_{minor} = 37.6 min.; ee = 96% ee.

(2S,3S)-tert-Butyl 3-amino-2-phenylpiperidine-1-carboxylate (51):



To a stirred solution of ketone **12** (60 mg, 0.22 mmoles) in ethanol (0.50 mL) at room temperature, was added anhydrous pyridine (26 μ L, 0.33 mmol) followed by methoxylamine hydrochloride (27 mg, 0.33 mmol) and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 30 min. Saturated aqueous NH₄Cl (10 mL) was added, the mixture was stirred for 30 min, and then extracted with diethyl ether (3 x 30 mL). The combined

organic layers were dried (Na₂SO₄), and concentrated to provide the crude oxime methyl ether of **51** (70 mg). This was treated with BH₃-THF (1 M soln. in THF, 0.65 mL, 0.63 mmoles) under N₂ and the solution was stirred at 50 °C for 4h. Saturated aqueous NH₄Cl (10 mL) was added and the mixture was extracted with CHCl₃ (3 x 30 mL), dried (Na₂SO₄), and concentrated. The crude product was purified by flash chromatography on silica gel (CH₂Cl₂/MeOH, 9/1) to provide 40 mg (67%) of **51** as pale yellow oil. This was pure by ¹H NMR and was used in the next step without purification.

IR: 2931, 1682, 1407, 1362, 1252, 1147, 868 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.44 (d, 2H, J = 7.3 Hz, ArH), 7.31-7.28 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.26-7.23 (m, 1H, ArH), 5.20 (d, 1H, J = 6.0 Hz, CHAr), 4.01 (br d, 1H, J = 10.9 Hz, CHNH₂), 3.20-3.11 (m, 2H, NCH₂), 1.88-1.65 (m, 4H, CH₂CH₂CH), 1.45 (br s, 2H, NH₂), 1.36 (s, 9H, C(CH₃)₃); 13C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 155.4 (CO₂^tBu), 139.1 (ArC), 129.4 (2 × ArC), 128.2 (2 × ArC), 127.2 (ArC), 79.7 (OC(CH₃)₃), 60.6 (NCH), 51.2 (CHNH₂), 39.8 (NCH₂), 29.2 (NH₂CHCH₂), 28.3 (C(CH₃)₃), 24.4 (NCH₂CH₂); MS (EI pos.): m / 277.2 (M + 1).

(2*S*,3*S*)-*tert*-Butyl 3-(2-methoxybenzylamino)-2-phenylpiperidine-1-carboxylate(51a):



To a solution of amine **51** (16 mg, 0.06 mmol) in THF (1.0 mL) was added 2methoxybenzaldehyde (21 μ L, 0.17 mmol) and the mixture was stirred at room

temperature for 22 h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was dissolved in methanol (1.0 mL). Sodium borohydride (13 mg, 0.35 mmoles) was added to this solution and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 h. Saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ (pH~8) was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 10 mL). The combined organic layers were dried (Na₂SO₄), and concentrated. The crude product was purified by flash chromatography on silica gel (CH₂Cl₂/ EtOAc, 9/1) to provide 18 mg (78%) of **51a** as pale yellow oil. This was pure by ¹H NMR and was used in the next step without purification.

IR: 2933, 1685, 1494, 1457, 1407, 1359, 1241, 1178, 1144, 1030 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.58 (d, 2H, J = 7.3 Hz, ArH), 7.33-7.28 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.26-7.18 (m, 3H, ArH), 6.89 (t, 1H, J = 7.4 Hz, ArH), 6.81 (d, 1H, J = 8.5 Hz, ArH), 5.47 (s, 1H, CHAr), 3.95 (d, 1H, J = 11.1 Hz, NCH₂), 3.77 (AB system, 2H, J = 13.4 Hz, CH₂Ar), 3.71 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.07-3.03 (m, 1H, CHNH), 2.97 (dt, 1H, J = 13.0, 2.3 Hz, NCH₂), 1.85-1.75 (m, 3H, CH₂CHNH), 1.66-1.53 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂N), 1.41 (s, 9H, C(CH₃)₃); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 157.5 (CO), 155.2 (ArC), 139.2 (ArC), 129.5 (ArC), 129.2 (ArC), 128.4 (ArC), 128.1 (ArC), 128.0 (ArC), 126.9 (ArC), 120.4 (ArC), 110.1 (ArC), 79.6 (C(CH₃)₃), 57.2 (CHAr), 55.0 (CHNH, OCH₃), 46.6 (CH₂Ar), 39.5 (NCH₂), 28.4 (C(CH₃)₃, 26.8 (CH₂CHNH), 24.3 (CH₂CH₂N); MS (EI pos.): m / 397.5 (M+1); HRMS (EI): m / 396.2412 (396.2413 calcd for C₂₄H₃₂N₂O₃); HPLC (Chiralpak OD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 90/10, 210 nm, t_{minor} = 4.64 min, t_{major} = 5.20 min; ee = 93.4%.

(2S,3S)-N-(2-Methoxybenzyl)-2-phenylpiperidin-3-amine ((+)-CP-99,994):



To a solution of **51a** (18 mg, 0.05 mmol) in MeOH (0.50 mL) was added 1:1 mixture of conc. aqueous HCl and methanol (1.0 mL) at 0 $^{\circ}$ C and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 22 h. Saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ was added (pH~8), and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (3 x 10 mL). The combined extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), and concentrated to give 12 mg (92%) of CP-99,994 as a pale yellow oil that was pure by ¹H NMR (500 MHz).

IR: 2935, 2846, 1647, 1595, 1492, 1451, 1239, 1111, 1027, 743 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.30-7.12 (m, 6H, ArH), 6.97 (d, 1H, J = 7.3 Hz, ArH), 6.80 (t, 1H, J = 7.3 Hz, ArH), 6.67 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H, ArH), 3.87 (s, 1H, CHAr), 3.67 (d, 1H, J = 13.9 Hz, CH₂Ar), 3.44 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.41 (d, 1H, J = 13.9 Hz, CH₂Ar), 3.28-3.25 (m, 1H, CHNH), 2.82-2.76 (m, 2H, NCH₂), 2.14 (br d, 1H, J = 13.5 Hz, CH₂CHNH), 1.95-1.91 (m, 1H, CH₂CH₂NH), 1.77 (br s, 2H, NH), 1.63-1.57 (m, 1H, CH₂CHNH), 1.39 (br d, 1H, J = 13.1 Hz, CH₂CH₂NH); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 157.6 (ArC), 142.4 (ArC), 129.5 (ArC), 128.2 (ArC), 128.1 (ArC), 127.8 (ArC), 126.5 (ArC), 126.3 (ArC), 119.9 (ArC), 109.7 (ArC), 63.9 (CHAr), 54.7 (NCH), 54.6 (OCH₃), 47.7 (CH₂Ar), 46.7 (NCH₂), 28.2 (CH₂CHN), 20.3 (CH₂CH₂NH); MS (APCI pos.): m /: 297.4 (M+1); HRMS (EI): 296.1898 (296.1889 calcd for C₁₉H₂₄N₂O, M⁺); [α]_D²³ = +68.0 (c 1.1,

CHCl₃); lit. $[\alpha]_D^{20} = +67.2$ (C 1, CHCl₃);¹³ HPLC (Chiralpak OD-H, hexanes/2-propanol 90/10, 210 nm, $t_{major} = 6.07$ min, $t_{minor} = 8.94$ min; ee = 94.8%.

N-Trifluoroacetyl-(2*S*,3*R*)-3-acetoxy-2-phenylpiperidine (53):



To an ice cold solution of the aminoalcohol 52 (e n50, 500 mg, 2.82 mmol; prepared as described for 50, but with the enantiomer of catalyst 44) in CH₂Cl₂ (30.0 mL) containing Et₃N (2.30 mL, 16.9 mmol) and 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (17 mg, 0.14 mmol) was added triflouroacetic anhydride (1.60 mL, 11.3 mmol). The solution was stirred at room temperature for 12 h, water was added and the solution was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ and the combined extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in THF (30.0 mL), K₂CO₃ (770 mg, 5.57 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred for 36 h at room temperature. Water was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂ and the combined extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated. The residue was purified by flash chromatography (hexanes/EtOAc, 7/3) to provide 715 mg (93%) of the trifluoroacetamide derivative of 52. This was dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 (30.0 mL), Et_3N (1.57 mL, 11.3 mmol) and 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (15 mg, 0.12 mmol) were added and the solution was cooled to 0 °C. Acetic anhydride (530 µL, 5.19 mmol) was added and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. Water was added and the mixture was extracted with CH₂Cl₂. The combined extracts were dried (Na₂SO₄), and

concentrated. The crude product was purified by flash chromatography (hexanes/ EtOAc, 8/2) to provide 795 mg (89%) of **53** as a pale yellow oil.

IR: 1743, 1687, 1451, 1370, 1235, 1193, 1045 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): **Major rotamer:** δ 7.49-7.26 (m, 5H, ArH), 5.99 (d, 1H, J = 5.7 Hz, CHAr), 5.25-5.20 (m, 1H, CHOAc), 3.83 (br d, 1H, J = 14.0 Hz, NCH₂), 3.19-3.13 (m, 1H, NCH₂), 2.17-2.11 (m, 2H, CH₂CHOAc), 2.0 (s, 3H, COCH₃), 1.85-1.83 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂N); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 169.6 (COCH₃), 135.4 (COCF₃), 128.9 (ArC), 128.7 (ArC), 128.0 (ArC), 128.0 (ArC), 127.8 (ArC), 116.6 (q, J = 288.0 Hz, CF₃), 55.5(CHAr), 41.2 (q, J = 3.4 Hz, CH₂N), 24.9 (CH₂CH-O), 23.9 (CH₃), 21.1 (CH₂CH₂N); **Minor rotamer:** ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃), visible peaks: 5.55 (d, J = 5.3 Hz, 1H, CHAr), 4.37 (d, J = 11.8 Hz, 1H, CH₂N), 2.75 (dt, 1H, J = 13.3, 4.1 Hz, NCH₂N). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃), visible peaks: δ 169.7 (COCH₃), 156.5 (q, J = 36.1 Hz, CF₃), 135.0 (COCF₃), 72.4 (CH-O), 70.6 (CHO), 57.7 (CHAr), 38.8 (CH₂CH-O), 23.5 (CH₃), 21.1 (CH₂CH₂N); MS (APCI pos.): m / 326.1 (M+1).

(2R,3R)-3-Hydroxypiperidine-2-carboxylic acid:



To a mixture of **53** (0.15 g, 0.48 mmol) in carbon tetrachloride (0.75 mL), acetonitrile (0.75) mL and water (1.1 mL), were added sodium periodate (1.53 g, 7.13 mmol) and ruthenium chloride (5.0 mg, 0.02 mmol) and the mixture was stirred vigorously at ambient temperature for 20 h. The mixture was filtered through a pad of Celite and the

residue was rinsed several times with CH_2Cl_2 . The black filtrates were combined, dried (Na_2SO_4) and concentrated. The residue obtained was dissolved in methanol (5.0 mL), K_2CO_3 (393 mg, 2.84 mmol) was added and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. The resulting solution was concentrated and the residue was dissolved in aqueous 1 N HCl (1.0 mL). This solution was applied to a column of Dowex 50Wx8 resin (200-400 dry mesh) and the column was eluted with deionized water (250 mL) followed by 5% aqueous ammonia. The ninhydrin positive fractions were combined and concentrated to provide 40 mg (58%) of (2R,3R)-3-hydroxypiperidine-2-carboxylic acid as a white solid.

Mp. 231-235 °C (lit.^{8a} mp 233-238 °C); IR: 3600-2859 (br), 1618 (br), 1461, 1399, 1312, 1205, 1137, 1083, 1042, 996 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, D₂O): δ 4.44 (s, 1H, CHCOOH), 3.60 (d, 1H, J = 1.4 Hz, CH-OH), 3.37-3.33 (m, 1H, CH₂NH), 2.94 (dt, 1H, J = 3.5, 12.9 Hz, CH₂NH), 1.95-1.84 (m, 2H, CH₂CHOH), 1.76-1.66 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₂N); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 172.3 (COOH), 64.1 (CH-OH), 62.2 (CHCOOH), 43.6 (CH₂N), 28.7 (CH₂CHOH), 15.9 (CH₂CH₂N); MS (APCI pos.): m / I246.1 (M+H); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ = -53.5 (c 0.6, H₂O); lit. $[\alpha]_D^{24}$ = - 52.8 (c 0.6, H₂O). ^{8f}

3.6 References

- (a) Remuson, R.; Gelas-Mialhe, Y. Mi Riev. Or g2008, 5, H93;m(b) Reynolds, T. Phytoch 2905, i6 s61399y(c) O'Hagan, D. Nat. Prod. Re 2000, 1,7435 and references therein.
- 2) Watson, P. S.; Jiang, B.; Scott, B. Or g . 2000; 2; 367.9 and references therein.
- 3) Selected recent reviews: (a) Källström, S.; Leino, R. B i org. M2008, 1 & C h e m. 601-635; (b) De Risi, C.; Fanton, G.; Pollini, G. P.; Trapella, C.; Valente, F.; Zanirato, V. T e t r a h e d r o r2008, A 91 y1 m(d) Esdolany, C.; Amat, M.; Bosch, J. C h e m. 2006; 1. 28198; (d) Buffat, M. G. P. T e t r a h2004; r o n 6 Q1701.
- 4) Horton, D. A.; Bourne, G. T.; Smythe, M. L. C h e m. 2003, el vO, 893.
- 5) Selected reviews: (a) Pearson, M. S. M.; Mathe-Allainmat, M.; Fargeas, V.;
 Lebreton, J. E u r . J . **2005** 2159; (a) Elurang, P. -Q. S y n **2096**; t 1133.
- 6) For selected, recent syntheses of (+)-L-733,060 see: (a) Garrido, N. M.; Garcia, M.; Sanchez, M. R.; Diez, D.; Urones, J. G. S y n 2040t 387; (b) Prevost, S.; Phansavath, P.; Haddad, M. T e t r a h e d r o n2010, 2 \$15; n(c)mBailte,rJ.y L.; Moore, S. P.; O'Brien, P.; Gilday, J. O r g . 2009e 1t ,t1935; (d) Liu, R.-H.; Fang, K.; Wang, B.; Xu, M.-H.; Lin, G.-Q. J . O r g 2008C7h,33307; (e) Emmanuvel, L.; Sudalai, A. T e t r a h e d2008, r4 95736; t(ft Davis, F. A.; Ramachandar, T. T e t r a h e d2008, n4 9878 and references therein; (g) Cherian, S. K.; and Kumar, P. T e t r a h e d r o r2007, 1A \$982.mme t r y

- 7) For selected recent syntheses of CP-99,994, see: (a) Fu, R.; Zhao, B.; Shi, Y. J.
 Org. 2009e7m47577; (b) Davis, F. A.; Zhang, Y. Tetrahed2009, n Lett
 5 Q5205; (c) Ahari, M.; Perez, A.; Menant, C.; Vasse, J.-L.; Szymoniak, J. Org.
 L e. 12008, 1 Q2473; (d) Bhat, R. G.; Sultane, P. R. J. Org. 2012C7h, em.
 11349 and references therein. Also see refs 6a,d.
- 8) For selected, recent syntheses of (2S,3R)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid, see: (a) Pham,
 V. -T.; Joo, J. -E.; Tian, Y.-S.; Chung, Y. -S.; Lee, K. -Y.; Oh, C. -Y.; Ham, W. H. T e t r a h e d r o r2008, A 93 1/8 mbm Chung, JH. S.; Shin, W. K.; Choi,
 S. Y.; Chung, Y. K.; Lee, E. T e t r a h e d2010, r5 1 207; (c)t Cochi, A.;
 Burger, B.; Navarro, C.; Pardo, D. G.; Cossy, J.; Zhao, Y.; Cohen, T. S y n | e t t
 2009, 2157; (d) Wang, B.; Liu, R. -H. E u r . J . 2009g 1 72845; (e)m.
 Yoshimura, Y.; Ohara, C.; Imahori, T.; Saito, Y.; Kato, A.; Miyauchi, S.; Adachi,
 I.; Takahata, H. B i o o r g . M2008, .1 68278;e(f)nChattopadhyay, S. K.;
 Roy, S. P.; Saha, T. S y n t 2001;s2664 and references therein.
- 9) Fleet, G. W. J.; Ramsden, N. G.; Witty, D. R. T e t r a h e d1988, 2 ,9287∉. t t . Also see ref. 6e.
- 10) Recent review: Casiraghi, G.; Battistini, L.; Curti, C.; Rassu, G.; Zanardi, F.;
 C h e m. 20R,el √l, 3076.
- 11) (a) Ube, H.; Shimada, N.; Terada, M. Ang & Wr.em., 2010, 4, 91858; (b)
 Yang, Y.; Zheng, K.; Zhao, J.; Shi, J.; Lin, L.; Liu, X.; Feng, X.; J. Org. Chem
 2010, 7, 55382; (c) Pansare, S. V.; Paul, E. K.; Chem. C 2011, 740,71027.
- 12) Konishi, H.; Lam, T. Y.; Malerich, J. P.; Rawal, V. H. O r g . 2010; It 22028.

- 13) Atobe, M.; Yamazaki, N.; Kibayashi, C. J. Or g 2004, 66 1955 95.
- 14) (a) Kulagowski, J. J.; Curtis, N. R.; Swain, C. J.; Williams, B. J. Org. 2001; tt.
 3, 667; (b) Huang, P. -Q.; Liu, L.-X.; Wei, B. -G.; Ruan, Y. -P. Org. 2003; tt.
 5, 1927.
- 15) For the RuCl₃/NaIO₄ oxidation of N-Boc pyrrolidones, see: Clayden, J.; Menet, C.
 J.; Tchabanenko, K. T e t r a h2002, r508n4727; for oxidation of N-Boc piperidines, see: N. Liang, N.; Datta, A. J. O r g 2005, C7hOE0182.
- 16) (a) Haddad, M.; Larcheveque, M. Tetrahedron**1999**, **A** \$04231hn(b) try Lemire, A.; Charette, A. B. J. Org **2010**,C7h520777.
- 17) Maligres, P. E.; Waters, M. M.; Lee, J.; Reamer, R. A.; Askin, D.; Ashwood, M. S.; Cameron, M. J. Or g 2002, 66h7E096.
- 18) Chattopadhyay. S. K; Roy. S. P; Saha. T. S y n t **20e1**, \$11,63664.







10.5 10.0 9.5 7.5 5.5 5.0 4.5 f1 (ppm) 9.0 7.0 6.5 4.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 2.0 1.5 0.5 0.0 0 8.5 8.0 6.0 1.0









EKP-3622A/1 EKP-04-45C (CDCl3)





-10 130 120 110 100 f1 (ppm)



EKP-3572A/1 EKP-04-47A (CDCl3)





1 1 7



1 1 8







Z.259 Z.57 Z.59 Z.



EKP-3634A/1 EKP-04-74A (CDCl3)





Cl






CHAPTER 4

Synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine and a Formal Synthesis of

(+)-Halofuginone Employing an Organocatalytic Direct Vinylogous

Aldol Reaction

ThihsapCter is based on the following publication Pansare, ES. SykAdhesis **2013**, a45µ I, 1-1886-639.

Contributions of authors

- S. V. Pansare: research supervisor, manusc
- E. K. Paul: experimental work, manuscript

4.1 Introduction

prevalence of malaria in troppical r Τhe combat malaria have resulted in a persist anti mala¹linalt haiopse nctosn. t1, exFti, gufreebr4.f1u)g2i) an meda (/healo attracted considerable interest.² I ohues of tout tiboen febrif1)uigsinoera(dually convoe)rtwa/ndictho iiss olfeesborif2 exhibits antimalarial ²a¹775 hteiviatsyymmseitmiilcarsytmo febri³fcuoquitnien ues to be activelysy in thorees etsi gao tfe showcase new methodology for s-dtiesruebossteilteuctt piperidine ring in the targets. Othaty two reported. Febrifugine and haloftuigoinnsonwohiadh have contributed to a continued interest antimalarial properties, halofugi⁵annoonheitisisu also an anti⁶antgihoaqsenbiece nagaeepnøtt nonevnett of forsotheerd it is active-deafgiacinesnttoeestt⁷eRocepopeermotsliys, itmlemimoo mechanism of action of febrifugine ⁸and ha These studies highlighted otghse oif mpfoerbtrainfcuegi treatment of multiple sclerosis, sclerod important consideration in devising a synt the approach for making analogs of febrifu



Figure 4.1. -{e)brif1)u,g-ih(na-e)o(fu2))inaonnde i(so3)febrifugir

4.2 Known synthetic routes to (+)-Febrifugine

The following summary provides an overง (+f)ebrifogni 2009 onwards.

4.2.1 The Sudalai synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine

Sudalai and c³bawnoreknearnstiroespeolretce€tdeibvreifsuygnitmea The synthesis started fro-mextah8eoile4,ononwheircchial undergoe-stohCnirsæeoiansrernangement **\$**(oScalfefmoerd4.t1h)e. eTsl catalyzed regiosdeileencitoSiuvseeisntAg-Dr_HP, BloAHfD2) 1a,s4 the ch ligand provideot. hTyhderosxeyctonlobSacavnayoonæplrcoothecclteidn mesylate follonwte dofbythdeismoelsaycleamtee, with inv azide anion gave 77.heUmSotteandidinbogetsnyrobben7dbadenielee undergoes reductive c§tclRiezdautcitoinont&soufstihtmehgepilpa LiA4lpHrovided spiolmedionogrrpeiperidine, which wa chloroformate. Subsequent benzylation of t afforded the 9.keTyheinrteegrimoesdeilaetceti9/uesibmrgomNoBnSyd provided the 10atos robiaset as tehebineleic mixture (dr withhyo4roxyquinazoline in the presence of secondary alcohol -Mtaortketopneeri**osling**neDe**tso** p febri1f1.ugDjenpero111e(o6MtiHo)Cnlaonfd subsequent neutral febrifugine4, (1125%stoeypesrafirlonyield).



Scheme 4.1. Synthefseibsrioffug ((+n)e by Sudalai.

4.2.2 The Lin synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine

In 2009, Lin paonrd²b²aendo varosnykmemnestrie to tal sy febrifugine. The synthesis**12**tboegaafnfowridththtehea which was *tert*-beuattaende switt of hipmraom viidebe (Stochheemiem i4n.e2). Smy-lmediated recobuluoptnigvere carcot3sives inthoft hiebeniaanied een y de -78°C afforded the 15 iamni dgooodal cycihed Id and dia (93.5:4.0:2.0:0.5). Protbes catsion heofbetnhzey I hyeot subsequent *h*z-CPBA mg ant/lefvoitnbabenisce/Auefter removal o groupe wiinth TBAF, mesylation of theien on huycderdoxy cyclization/spirbornyle 15% pit Tome of a 15% niven not fue nesulfor acid in methanol 18to fMoof of syd 186 of fioot nheoov fed of oby b mediated cyclizati 109 m opponvind og dtheete peopoxis dielev 4-hydroxyquinazoline followed by the -oxidat Martin periodinane .gaTvkeisprovatse colle Markef celebor tiof of provi-fole br(i+f) ugine 12, (1243.s5% aposvef mao main y i eld).



Scheme 4.2. Synthefseibsrioffug (i+n)e by Lin.

4.2.3 The Evans synthesis of (+)-Febrifugine

and eopoovvvåðannekdeerm sanntios elec-fteibvrei fsuygnitmlee Evans synthesi-semisntoabouteydraflrobem200,4d evhid chet hvyaka opero Τhe with benzyl chlore*tārt*obruntaytle dfioclalrob2MotenSactbeeynteobia Th 241 was certeamloviend wipt thol puter nie of iuh if orm at e 4.3). t o al dehyde. Treatment aldehyde o f the with

diethyl ester in presence 0 f NaH fo22.lowed Treatme22n wtitohf-miA-aDafforded thBe, hheorytianaderspriverso ar Ith Emmons olefination of the hemy aOngoing tangate f b e l o piper28.diTnhee hydro23xwyals gorrooutpecitned as the ben piper24. diBnreomination24 (oTfMStOnTef, keDtloPnEeA itnhen NBS treatment οf the c-ln yu dine oxbyr opumionkaeztoolnien ewipt mov4i febrifugin161. dDeerpirvoatt161.co(teHiCoIn) oafnude:nstubnseeuqtraliz prov(i—ef)eedorifugine.20,(1820v8se%treaplsI fyrioemld).



Scheme 4.3. Synthefseibsrioffug (i+n)e by Evans.

4.3 Results and Discussion

We decided to develop a synthesis of for precursor that couldgiants one band on protecting with linked piperidines by simple coupling with common proteconduirss oar stooitably protec¹sted hCpaisperi (Figure 4.2) whfor hot bleoniavle is zDefotor of protecting decirning of can be obtaine⁹ dofby and samminenroized the ydrull taket the st derives from the fituwo hot it don hade aid tesed to but the enobrogie vinylogous ¹a⁰ bot ot corncoel aaccttioon me and an appropri vinylogous ¹a⁰ bot ot corncoel aaccttios the ab-5soil nut of hest piperidine ring of the -6t airsgeit ndi Trheects tye receond aldol reaction and un appropriet the aldol adduct (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2. The organocatalytic direct vinylo

Our investigations b288 g(aSnchevin44e)h.4 tIhnei tsiyanit direct vinylogous aldol ny-cena**ctopod4** azonofotochohemeemeen aldeh27y¹ dievas examined in the presence of diphenylethayniden ecidinachnio nue din¹e³ (2.51a), e2.51b, i 2.5ce) dathedioun cyclohexaneddiipahmeinnyel eatrhodyelreinveeddi ashdo(2.551a)aarna22551e, i des Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3. Selected aminothiourea and aminos

Orienting experime257ats suggweist tolic heorcoamteat hyasi solvent for further studies ba286 (dīaobhet 14 e 1), entr-4) e.s. All though lowe fCi) inngcrtehæs et de motpheer activar set of and enantiom288, ritchæxrcæas ofstbilf obmirvezalsy psiloo hw (Tabl 8% yie 128)d. oftdhiephenylet holyelreinvæddia ænim21510e ov tabsiour e ineffective as a catal 238 ist almidch poor meletida or en entr-8) es 625 te palloy so 128 diend low yn beled at endenant iomen (Table 4.1, entry 9). Reacti25othasn25oveiwtehrethe slower, b238 twi phobaigheir enantiomeri-1c6) extcheasns the aminothi25oauec.reFaorca245othateogtkhugtssset of dichlorome solvent provided the highest -4:023) nbiuolomethiecy and diastere28o nsetmenaliencetoiviloty. fiburrther studies cata25oe¹y⁴ sin ethyl a 28ewitathe gooroodvieotheaothtiomeric ex diastereoselectivity and yi25oelvoda.s Isnynctohmeptairci more useful when dichloromethane -1wóa)s. used

$0 \qquad 0 \qquad$											
Entry ^a	Cat ^b	Solvent	T/h	Yield (%)	dr ^c (anti/syn)	$e^{d}e(\%)$ (anti) ^e					
1	25a	СӉС∮	24	59	1.1/1	-5 5					
2	25a	tolu	24	68	1 / 1	-1 8					
3	25a	EtOA	24	3 1	1.1/1	-5 8					
4	25a	D MF	24	12	1 / 1	-3 0					
5	25a	СӉС∮	1 4 ^t 4	8	4.2/1	-6 2					
6	25b	СӉсу	144	2	-	-6 1					
7	25b	EtOA	14	0	-	-					
8	25b	tolu	144	0	-	-					
9	25c	СӉС∮	48	13	1.5/1	-7 4					
10	25d	СӉсу	48	3 1	1.9/1	-9 0					
11	25d	СӉС∮	1 4 ^t 4	16	2.2/1	-93					
12	25d	EtOA	48	2 0	1.6/1	-88					
13	25d	tolu	48	39	1.5/1	-8 8					
14	25e	EtOA	120	18	2.4/1	95					
15	25e	СӉС∮	192	74	8 / 1	91					
16	25e	tolu	120	27	2.9/1	90					

^a 2 equiv.	of ^b 2c0r	ontoolme‱.	INaMcRto	confe.cr	u ^d Clheiı	rparlodk⊎⊮	eltos
anal ^e y–se²iisn.d	icates	s form	∩ati 2® o	fReoafctt	i‱ino€en ∈	∋antanOti	ome
Table 4.1. Optim	nizati	on of	the	ODVA	deby2	27dlèon	o f

Thus the direct viny-grogogolaactoonherweiathi 27 usi25g as the catalyst pr28oivindegdooddheyibeludle diastereosedn*tielsy*ont⊨i⊗i/tly) (añd4% excellent enantio th*aeuti* diastereomer) when the reaction was co 4.4). Following the planned synthetic stra trans substitution in the target apptildpietares in eliomerca of the corresponding amE) no Sbiuntcyerooluarctaopnpero amino lactone would involve an invertive a aldol product *ansti*tteor*s*et*mo*nioeshoemmeinsitrinesyd.rfe**2178**joounn tthnie the was first hydrogenated and then Mitsunobu examined under a variety of conditions. mixtures and hence an alternate sstarray tegy Accordingly, the alcohol was 279.irRsetdwocxtildoinze 29 withSeKecgtarwiyzed-369 (70%) with good syda/anatisteotebsel presumiaatbhley FAenlhkinhno⁵Cd, Secheme¹⁶4.4).



Scheme 4.4. Syntshneadics30hobanDDVA reaction.

The stereochemi **28**awleræssbiagsnemdenotns of uorr earl organocatalytic viny)-corgootuosnoåladetotonereaioctivolm aldehydesthapeutraolvdiodledas the major 34,936)o.duFcotr (tChhea *anti* an*s*gb*n* assignments i,nthtehet rpernedseinnt oshteumoliycal s protoFOS) (iChH these aldol products **22%**e(rsee ecomp ref.. 1TOhde) formfaetbiroinfuogfin(e+)in the present s configu**28**.ation of

The l**30**cooktaocsner eadily convert31e(dmeisnytloattihoen aa azidation with inv*a setir*sstieorne)oco**bovie:/b**ookineise/Bookineisesoft1/fr &y, r(Seqbleime 4.5). Reducti₂on Polf/C); hege na erialtee of Ha mixture o butyrolactone and **32**hoebtraeionueidrefdropmip1%ehreidionnte acylation of the amino l**331**citmonte he NKpeOtQeasode nyce significantly facilitated 32t(h8iOs% 1360)erovacirntrhaonougteme any residual amino lact362mper.ovRedetedettihoen coofrr piper33 wolhiinceh was isolated as a soongheidhenente of *than*bresomer during the *N*-mperdoutcetcitoinonano336f itshoelq as carbobenzyloxy followed by protection o the key i34n(t7e1r%me362)riceSmtceheme 4.5).



Scheme 4.5. Synthesi \$34. of piperidine

With the **34**piinpehrainddi, nethe final steps of the keto **5**x4ewaisn unmasked by treatment of t**2**4e keta (Scheme 4.s6o)n. oCfomtphaeri**2**x4pweidthrarlepdo³a⁴dt¹aendfoifvramteudes th*treans* or ientation of the substituents on the initial stereoch**28**.miBcrad miansastiigonm**2**x4ewomaftsst**a**ffecohrikeevteod by theurperorceepdorted by Honda ³(aTnMdSOfffie DiBWd bromoketone wahsy drreaazcotqeudinwaiztohli4he to provide deriv11atiDveeprot11e(c6stiHoCnl)ofand subsequent-neutr febrifugine. ($[\alpha]_D^{23} = +1c70...76$, (Et^{2a}(0)]= +1ic4t...60, (EtOH), 86%



Scheme 4.6. Total syfnetbhreisfiusgionfe. (+)

4.4 Conclusions

In conclutesinceno, selaectiv-feeberyinftuhgeisnies (of f4 (s+ overall yield) was achieved by employing vinylogous aly-colorool tornecoal catcitoonneo fand -atmhieno iaskokmyner fur an one-ditos ubbesoetip2 jup3 er idine core of the tar bromoketone **24** obstantible dc of novemean loef dugiinntoone(+b)y cou 7-bro-omoch I-obhryodroxyqu³ it maezophriensee, nt study also o synthe shiasloof for og(e+.)

4.5 Experimental section

All commercially available reagents wer requiring anhydrous conditions were perfor using oven dried glasswareauraDnictwebpeomdetstaar CaHand sodium/benzophenone respectively. C were used for TLC. Silica gel-40f0ormecsonl.umAnl melting points are uncorrectesob.diQupmtiDcallinreo digital polarimeter at ambient temperature

(*S*)-5-[(*R*)-1-Hydroxy-2-(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)ethyl]furan-2(5H)-one (28):



A mixture o256 (f210 e modat 2% l, ys1t. 1277 (fg0)g4, .t88thobeola) Ideh and (524fl) ura 266 (f10 emBL, 21.5 mmol) in 60 dLi) chwlaosrosnheithn for 192 h at ambient temperature. mīLh)e, mixt filtered and the filtrate was conschentrat chromatog₂C by pEhty0A (cCH 10/1) to p28taosviade pall 673 yegl sol*ahtidkyn* \in 8a/s1 dete¹HmiNnWeRd abnyalysis of the crude IR (neat): 3467, 2988, 2889, 17¹9¹61, NMR48, (500 0/00HQ) I, *Anti* diastereomer: δ 7.67 (dd, 1H, J = 5.8, 1.5 H, t_2), 6. = 5.8, 15.(90 t H/z=) 1, H, 40., 81-379 H9z) (, m8, 84 c440He), J = 13HQ.1, 7. 0, 2. 0 Hz), 8 (3: d 8.3=1 (H1s4, 61, H) 1, 1.928.941z (m, 3:149)5, 1 3 H)Visible resonances for the syn diastereomer: δ 7.52 (dd, J = 1 H5, 7, 1.5 Hz) (part of -51 d 0 2 1 (H)n, -4.52H50, 4 (¹nÅc, 2018bAR); (75 (75 (CDC)) diastereomer: δ 172.8, 154.9, 122.1, 110.0, 85.2, 69.6, 64.7, 64.3, 41.4, 24.1; Visible resonances for the syn diastereomer: δ 172.9, 153.8, 122.7, 109.8, 84.9, 67.4, 64.8, 6 4 . 3, 4 0 . 1, 2 4 . m2z; 2 1 K3 S 1 (A (MG H)); p b (St.M)S: (CI): 2 c a | c d 1 b (f (D s f (M G H))_f)=; 0 R 3 0 (Et O A c / h e x *a*ant) e s , H P4./C1); C h i r a | -10], a k h & Separncepsa/n20 | 9 *a*anti 28:, 4 22 140 min m, (min or), (ma) j. som 28: 5 7 . 9 min (ma j (h) f), r Se (p) e tanti e 28d wars (mis no o b t a i n-9 (3 % i n e 8 9)

(S)-5-[(R)-1-Hydroxy-2-(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)ethyl]dihydrofuran-2(3H)-one (28a):



Pd/C (10%, 340 mg) was a281 (d&Odg7, to7.a93 stmimmorle) of methan.co0hL)(.80The mixture was stirred for 16 balloon f2ialnlotedtlhoweient befdiHthrough a pad of Cel washed wit(h2 mxet32n00a.ohmoLt)he combined filtrates reduced press00.gre(9:90%3))optimboyfv6di[((&ob-41-hy1dr72e)(x-20yet-hy1 13-diox-2eylla)neftuh-Qa(nQ-0H) 28a as a whint/depn =s o8l/i1d). (This pur¹He N(MR) and was directly used in the next IR (neat): 3500, 2985, 2892, 1770, 1658, 1119, 102;7H N9N9R6 (c5m00 3) Mathati diasteredondel: δ 4.37-4.32 (m, 1H), -34.9096 (m, 5H), 03(.d5d8d, J(=b1nH7s, 8, 1H9), 42.24686 4 Hz (m, 1H2), 232. (2n81 (dl dH,)J,=1H2,406, 2(.d0d, Hz=1)H,4168 10. Hz), 1.3 Vestible resonandes Hfor; the syn diastereomer: δ 4.43-4.40 (m, 1H) 2.-64864 (m, -2.14H5), (n20,8(4d6dH,)J=1H2,4.9, 170, d5d, JH=2)H, 1. 14.8, 1.8 Hz¹)², NMR37(7(5s, N)H-20n4Fd) astereomer: δ 177.2, 110.0, 82.3, 69.1, 64. Vestible freesonandes for the syn, 28.3 diastereomer: δ 177.9, 109.9, 82.4, 69.8, 68.5, 64.8, 40.8, 28.3, 24.0, 23.9; MS (APCI, posm/z)2:17.1 (M+1); HRMS (CI): 12-H 9.6(MO+H2), (2R7. = 0.30 (EtOAc/hexanes, 3/2).

(S)-5-[2-(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)acetyl]dihydrofuran-2(3H)-one (29):



To a solution **d28fa(9b) e** anbjove4. al₂66½c(od3hn30oonLL)) wians CH added-MaDetsisn perigo, di8n.a3)n2eamn(moBo.115K3e mixture was tempteurae for 16 h. Saturat(e3dO awoqabus)eoauosidesob, ditu organic layer was separated and₂C½t(K2e xaq3u0eou mL.) The combined or ganic (I3aOy, emrLds) rigosecopt e(Narvaards here concent in table of esidue was purified by flash c provide 71429 amsg a(8pOa%d) e oyfellow liquid. IR (neat): 2996, 2893, 1769, 171¹;8^tH NIN3R73, 1 (500 MHz):, δ 4.90142 Cl88 (m, -3.1945), (m3, 949 H) = 133.049 H(zd), , 2.88 (/el, 13H4 - Plz) = 5 (m, -3.1945), (m3, 318H)¹ C NIMR44 (s (75 MHz_3): δ 20500, Cl76.3, 108.0, 82.2, 64.8, 64.7, 47.5, 27.3, 24.7, 24.2; MS (APCI, m/p2d15s1. ()M+1), $[\alpha]_D^{2.3} = 8.180.(92, 3)$ CHCHIR MSm/z (CI): 214.0808 (214, HQ 495) + 1_f = R 49 J 8 C (Fot OACc/hexanes, 1)

(S)-5-[(S)-1-Hydroxy-2-(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)ethyl]furan-2(5H)-one (30):



K-Sele[®] (t1r.i@leM iOmmLT,HOF23,m69)22.w38as added to a stirr ket209n(e400 mg, 1.86.6mnLm)o-l7)e³⁸CtiannoTHTFhe(2mixture w -78°C fohr. 1Saturated aqueous a(nh65nonomaLe)madbledri followed (b2y0.EmLTO)hAecccorlgaayner was separated and extracted (w2:itxh.2EDtTO)mAecc) combined orga_1SiQ)c, layer and concentrated. The residue was purified 1/1) to proviot340eas2o8al30cmlge s{va7/400418/4+) q14066f/d1)(. IR (neat): 3498, 2986, 2960, 2933, 2890, 1 c m_{1}^{1} ¹H NMR (500 $_{3}$ M*sfya* diastereomet: δ4.44-4.39 (m, -4.10H), 4. (m, 4H3), 954. (0n0, 1H), 32..5673 ((bmr, -2 sl, 3H9, 1H))2, -520H7, 4 2.25 (m, -2.20H2), (n2,7(105 cH)) J_{1} =1H1, 488, 1.8 HV is ible 1.38 resonances for the *anti* diastereomer: δ4.43-4. (40n, 1H2)., 642. (6n37(dldH)), 1. 1HJ = 14.6, 2.0 H2) NMR. β75 (MHS) J_{2} m, diastereomet: δ 177.9, 109.9, 82.4, 69.8, Visible4resonances for the3, 40.8 *anti* diastereomet: δ177.2, 110.0, 82.2, 69.1, 64.8, 40.9, 28.3, 24.2, p o sm/z)2:17.1 (M+1); HRMS (CI): 120H Q_{5} .(M9 H2); (2R7. = 0.30 (Et OAc/hexanes, 3/2).

(*S*)-5-[(*R*)-1-Azido-2-(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)ethyl]-dihydrofuran-2(3H)-one (31):



To a so310 (μ6000 nmg) f 2.727½ (fn6000 dLl)) ⁶Eitnu60 dHer nitroge added triethylamine (463 μL, 3.32 mmol) fo 3.32 mmol). The mixtu°C eanwdaswsastaeidndne⁶Oedad aTthoeo 1 mixture was e₂Oc<u>#</u>(r2acxte2dOTwhenieLt) hco°CnHotined organic (N₂SaQ) and concentrated tomepsrycalvsaitchee y8e1100 onwog o(i9 was used immediately in the next step with

Sodium azide (822 mg, 12.6 mmol) was added 2.53 mmobn)_) ina nb0 MFth¢8 mix t⁰Curfeorwa9s6₂.shtiurnroe mg, Τhe mixture was cooled **(**o3:Orwomadus)n atdedmepderfactlulroev waeti(30.mLT)he resulting biphase was separate with $\mathbb{E}(2OAcc.3OT \text{ Imme})$ combined or q_{2} (Q_{2}) c, If a syletres revolution of q_{2} (Q_{2}) c, q_{2} (q_{2}) c, concentrated to pr30tavisidae yot4a/k0/iksyaam+ay 16, Kop/Lu1a/y(na.ts.1) hiosf pur¹He N(MR) and was directly used *aintit/syn*t=he nex 25/1) was obtained by flash column chromat IR (neat): 2987, 2959, 2923, 285229,210/488 1 $c \vec{m}$; ¹H NMR (500 ₃) M H *nti* diastecced multi- $\delta 4.56-4.4.52$ (m³), 916H), (m, 4H-3), 913. (9m4,3(d) (d) (d) (J) = 1211176. 9, 10. -22, 418. 5(mHz)1,H) 2. -2719 (m, -2.10H), (n_2 , 4(10GdH)), J = 1.41, 499, 878(dd), H/2), 1. 1 4 . 9, 4 . 5 H zVisible resonances for the syn3diastereomer: δ 4.60-4 . 5 7 (m,1H), -33.5548 (m, 1H), ¹C1.N3W9R ((s7,5 3)))+)**z***i*nti CDCI diastereomer: δ 176.5, 108.1, 80.9, 64.7, 64.5, 60.5, 39.3, 28.2, 24.3, 22.2; Visible resonances for the syn diastereomer: δ 176.4, 108.2, 81.8, 64.64, 64.61, 60.5, 39.2, 28.1, 24.5, 22*n/z* 22:42.M\$ (10/1+1)p;osH (*RnM*/2524(2APIC)145po $(242.1141_1 \text{Hg}_{3})_{4} (\text{dM} + \text{fH}_{0})_{f}); 0.R50 (EtOAc/hexanes, 3)$

(5*S*,6*R*)-5-Hydroxy-6-[(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)methyl]piperidin-2-one (32):



To a stirred soll(u2t8i1onmgo,f 1t.h1e6 amzmio20dile)) iant me ambient temperg2tQu(r5e6 wmags, a2dDd%e)d fKollowge)d by The mixture was stirred for 16 h at 2 ambien and then filtered through a pad of(2Coel200e. mL)and the combined filtrates wereovoiodneceantr yellow gum. This was purified b2Qy½/fMet@1sl,h ch 19/1) to provi302mas2@10wmm.migrants(eiß=69%o1)7i/od1f)(. The over of32(fr30)mis 80%.

IR (neat): 3352, 3229, 162335, 1464, 14209, 14209, 1947, $902^{-1,1}$ H8NSMR (5000₃)*Mithans* diasterieomer: 6.63 (br s, 4.03197 (m, 4H) J = 39.556 H(3b)/3,9t3(.m4)3H,1H), 429.86 ((ddd J = 1H8.0, 6.328, dd3d., J = 1H2), 9, 2.11.24 dd, 6J = 4H, Hz), 14.5, 2.-21.043 (m,21.03833, (m,3(8dPdH,))J = 1H1, 475, 9.8 Hz) (s, **Vibibli)** resonances for the *cis* diastereomer: 6.47 (s,-3.16H4), (m8.617H) 2.-01199 (m², NINHP; HZ5 Q)(D7*Carhs* diastereomer: δ 170.9, 109.7, 68.9, 64.7, 64.3, 55. Vibible resonances for 2the. *cis*, 29.0 diastereomer: δ 171.5, 109.4, 65.7, 64.6, 53.1, 40.5, 27.6, 25.8, 24.2; MS (APCI, pos m/z 216.1 (M+1); HRMS (CI): 2161.64.04(2M3+5H); (=216.12 0.25₂C f/0Me OH, 4/1). (2R,3S)-Benzyl-3-hydroxy-2-[(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)methyl]piperidine-1-

carboxylate (33):



To a stirred s₄ (µ\$6)7€nmsngpn2o1566L600Anoth)H)wakis312,a7dHeEd((0.1g,980.m8mol) diss.o60nk/)edanion 1ThHeE m(nExture was 24 h. The mixt&Cr,ewwara10eentc)q(o60vlae5sdatdode0d slowly a was stirred for 20 min. at.0g)oomvasteanopieleoltot mixtoudeita was stirred for 10 min. The mix Celite. The filter c(a3k ex w2a0esdmw1a)eteedomvbitheoEt were concentrated under reduced*R*, (\$9-42-(e(s2sure Met+1)y-dBoxe2-lyain) methy-13-3p (\$13)apseraidwihnite solid. This th*teans* diastereome¹H N(150170)O aWnHot was used in the purification.

IR (neat): 3316, 3122, 2928, 2862, 2824, 1 ¹H NMR (500_{3})Mt8l4z, -G 1C 90 & I (m0 (d4dHd), J = 13H32. 1, 8.7, 4 2.-92692 (m5 (t1 dH,)J = 1 H2, 1.58, 429 (d7d dH,z =) 1, H 12.0, 7.3, 3 2.32 dd, J = 1 H1, 4.8, 32.70 4Hz ()m2 (2d1 dd())9 = 1 H1, 477 & Hz), 1.6 1.66 (m, -1.15H0), (n, 54H), -11.2378 ((ms, NINHR)); (75.184H2, 1.6 CDG)I & 110.1, 72.2, 64.6, 64.4, 59.9, m4z 6.1, 4 202.1 (M+1); HRMS (CI): 240 & Q (21.248)7), (220002.1124847) (202.14431 b (bt (bt)+ H) $p \neq$; 0C.R 320 / (Me H0 H, 4/1). (2*R*,3*S*)-Benzyl 3-hydroxy-2-[(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)methyl]piperidine-1carboxylate (33a):



To a soluticannin of **8**3h(Ocdobe,obbO.e79 m_Och_o(11.)Ochli)n CH were added benØy11tchlmOr77190mmmacitlee)t,h(yalmandani, ne (O O.95 mm^oCil)Tale Oolution was stirre(d1OatmLr)oom was added and the resdulvtiitn_Ocop_(OchHi xxtu2rOeTmovbea)s e combined organic _{SaQ)yenassdwecnoenceIntreadte(otN.a Pu residue by flash chromatography on silica (91%)33aaoosfoloorille.ss

IR (neat): 31466772, 21944208, 21838502, 1257, $^{-1}$;1153, ¹H NMR (500 ₃)M8H7z., -378C2D8CI(m, 5H), 5.15 (s, 2H), s, 1H-B, 88. **96** r m, 5H), -1.28389(r(10)(rd2dmh)), *J*,=11HH, 2486, 1.9 6.1 Hz-1)., 68I. (7n4, -1.33H5), (blr.455), 1H¹)°C, N1MR32(7(5br/MHsz., CDG)Iδ156.39, 113268.4, 127.9, 127.8, 109.0, 68 38.2, 25.7, 23.9, *mlz*93.316; 2MS(M(+A, P, CI, HR **pM6**s.()C:I (336.1811 1 ± 24)IQc(dM+fHq)ar()) 2,3 € -120.*c*90.(38, 3), C_fH=0CI0.30 (EtOAc/hexanes, 3/2). (2*R*,3*S*)-Benzyl-3-(benzyloxy)-2-[(2-methyl-1,3-dioxolan-2-yl)methyl]piperidine-1carboxylate (34):



To a solution o **133a** (**18O andb** ov **O**. **24** r. **bO raho**) (a) (uong) idner THNF at room temperature i **dV2a (3**%) addied se pelerp soit cans siinumminy of 0.24 mmol) followed by benzyl bromide (29 mixture was stirred at amb^oCenathet sovanpter ratwanse The resulting mixtEutrOe% (22 waxs .1eOxTthmea) cet cend biwnietch c layers wer₂SeQ) drainedd c(oNhacentrated. The resul chromatography on silica gel (hex**34** mass/EtO colorless oil.

IR (neat): 2930, 2285851, 11260902, 11145273, 11039501, 110 ¹H NMR (500 ₃) M Major rotanize: 1δ 7.34-7.24 (m, -51.00H7), (A5B. 1 systeph= 122H., 4 Hz) J = 45..669 H(zt), J = 14H1, 5242 (dHz) 1 H 4.43 J = 12.27 (Hoto) J = 14H , B.5, 33.582Hz () m, -33379211, (m3, -714H), 3.46 (m5(t1dH,), 1 H22.89 Hz1).3822, (Om4, -1.37H3), (m1, -718H), 1.62 (m, 2 H) Visible Tresonationes (for the minobr) rotamer: δ 5.19-5.14 (AB systeph= 122H., 6 Hz) J = 45..888 H(zt), J = 14H1, 7230 (dHz) 1 H 4.47 J = 12.06 (Hoto) J = 14 H 08.4, 33.452Hz () m, 1 (311 dH5), 4, 1 H2, 9J = 2.8 Hz), 1¹ Č 3 & MR s, (7 S H) (H Major rotainer: δ 155.9, 138.9, 1.37.0, 128.3, 128.2 (2C), 127.9, 127.7, 12 39.1, 38.4,9. **VEstible resonances4for the minor rotamer:** δ 155.7, 137.3, 128.4, 127.7, 127.6, 127.3, 109.2, 75.7, 7 19. MPS; (APCI*m/z* 4p2o6s.2):(M+1); HRMS (CI): 426.22 $C_2 \not H_3 \not N Q_5 (M + \not H_1)^{23} = -12.c \ Q_2 \cdot (48, 3) \quad Q_5 \neq R = 0.60$ (EtOAc/hexane

(2R,3S)-Benzyl 3-(benzyloxy)-2-(2-oxopropyl)piperidine-1-carboxylate (24):



To a so 3444 (tói4onm gof 0.15 m.m. 60L) isvalidies accestion for el (42)i od img, $(7.^{-2}80 \text{ mms} \text{ lm} \text{ od} 015\%)$ in . a60 d.e) to anter (o1om temperatur solution was stirred at ambient temperatur was disso₂C $\frac{1}{2}$ (e1 dD iam Lac) qC.H $5_{2}S_{2}O_{3}$ (SG a) nL was addede. The was stirred vigorously for a few minutes aqueous layer $w_{a}Cs_{2}(2exxtr.1a (2e \text{ Threedd}))$ covoint thin CeHd organi drie $d_{2}SQ$)(, Na filtered and concentrated. The chroma atpology on silica gel (hexanes / 244 ta (3. Ac, 7 colorless oil.

IR (neat): 2943, 2866, 1689, 1422, $^{-1}$; 1 H355, 1 NMR (500 Mg)H $\hat{\boldsymbol{b}}$ 7. -3C2025 (m, -51.00H9), (A5B. $1s5 \neq s t1 e^{2}m$, 5 2 H Hz), 5.01 (br s, 1H), J = 4126.50 (Hbzr), s, 4.11H3) (, br4. s 1H), 2.84 (-2b.r58s, (m1, H) 2, H) 2, .629. B5 ((bmr, -1.525H9, 3 (H)m, 67 1H), 1.40J = (b1r1.dbc HbtN/R (75 N)H52,050 (**B**519, 138.6 136.8, 128.4, 128.3, 127.9, 127.8, 127.5, 24.4, 19.5m/z 3H8R2MS20(2C11)(:382 $_{2}$ 5 $_{2}$ 500 $_{4}$ 8 Me tell h_{2}] h_{2}^{2} $d_{1}^{2} = f$ or C -29.c 22.0, $_{3}$ C H² d_{1} (h_{1}^{2} t_{1}^{5} =.-26.c 8.0, $_{3}$) C H2 400 km th 8 δ_{1}^{a} % $_{f}$ = Re e0.25 (hexanes/ETth d_{2} HARC N MR7 / b_{2} h) on MR data is in agreement data d_{1}^{a} a d_{1}^{3}

(2*R*,3*S*)-3-Benzyloxy-2-[2-oxoquinazolin-3(4*H*)-yl)propyl]piperidine-1-carbamic acid benzyl ester (11):



To solut 2014 (ϕ 400 or fing, 0.11 mm $_{\mathcal{Q}}$ Cl $_{\mathcal{M}}$) 2.60 hb) a % Both wells o audid \mathcal{C} the TMSOTF (40 μ L, 0.22 mmol) and DIPEA (42 μ L stirr % Cd faotini 64.5 and NBS ()3.9 wang, a 60 d 262. minute model must be more than the emperature for 3 h and then pour mixture was extracted with EtOAc (2 x 10 washed with water (10 $_{\mathcal{D}}$ ShQ)) f, ilb treir need (a1 nOd mcLo) n, c providee the more than of the bromoketone in an hyd K₂CQ₃ (15 mg, 0.11-hyndhob & sy) puia madz of line (16 mg, mixture was somple rated are the pour brow the then pour constructed with EtOAc (16 mg, mixture was somple rated are the pour brow the and then pour constructed with etch was used in the pour constructed with the bromoketone in an hyd K₂CQ₃ (15 mg, 0.11-hyndhob & sy) puia madz of the and then pour constructed with etch was somple rated are the pour constructed with EtOAc was extracted with EtOAc was resulting mixture was extracted with EtOAc (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by it the the some the constructed with etcOAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the the the some the difference of the solution of the brow the solution the etcOAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the the etcOAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by the etcAc were washed with water (10 $_{2}$ SmQ)L, by t

concentrated. The bryestildauseh wals ropmartiof gireach hy (hexanes/EtOAc, 2/31) as to a gc or leor 217 esmsg l(i4 of 0%i) d.o. IR: 1726, 1674, 1610, 1424¹; ¹H 1 Ni 1548, (5267, MH 2 CDG) i $\delta 8.72$ dd, J = 1 HB, 0, 1.5), 77..9723 ((bmr, -7s2, 4H 9, 1, H)) $\pi_{1,1}$, 57 1H), -77.2352 (m, 7 (1d0 H7) = , H1 52.. 140 (H of) J = 1512. 4 - HH 2 9 8 5.0 (m, 1H), 4.944. (6 L3 r (sm, 3 (101 HH)) of = 411 165, 59 Hz) 1, H) 4.06 3.52 (br s, 1H) 6 (d 02, J977 H, (4b π , 2.887, b77H) H (2x0) =, 2.118H, 7, 6.1 Hz-1)., 881. (9b4r m, 2H), -1.16375 (m(, 4b (ral pts)), a r16H h) t4 b1r. 1 HJ = 12. 1 52 H 12 MR; (75 §) 161200.000 c0 c0 c1 1608..92, 115466..25, 114 1 36.5, 134.5, 128.5, 128.4, 128.0, 127.8, 7 0.4, 67.4, 53.9, 50.6, 41m/205, 26392.66, M+ 2 4; 3, HR (EI +): 525.2285 $_{3}$ (H5 N2; 055, (2M2; 6H of) $D^{2} = 424$.d8 f (b, r $_{3}$) 0° CH CI I i [d] $D^{25} = -22.c01$. (0, $_{3}$) 3 C^m H C4R 0.30 (EtOAc); ^{3}a (s) pHe, ctros c N MR¹, 2 N MR) and o^{3} pT ft of transfer erion tant gir cere men 3 the 3 3 With reference in the set of the se

3-(3-[(2R,3S)-3-Hydroxypiperidin-2-yl)-2-oxopropyl]quinazolin-4(3H)-one

((+)-Febrifugine) (1):



A stirred111 (s1071 untgi,on0.00F3 mmoM).012aLn) awyause obues at HeCol reflux for 1 h. The s^oColauntoilonwassvals₂₂CsCgintfeoine oc ow pH-10. Tshiec bsaolution waş(3exxtr3aOctmeLd).wiTthhe CoHoCmbb

 Iayers were washed wi₂Stob) barnidneco(n2c0enntlr)a,teddring

 mg (99%) of crude product. This was purif

 (CH₃C MeOH) 19ơ 1 provide 7feb5rimfgusg(ia/n5e%/n)i of € (€⊕)id.

 Mp: -1133%G; ¹(mipit133%GC). IR (neat): 3306, 3052,

 1669, 1607, 1468, 1¹;3¹H61NMR 3(2350013)%MR38B, 27919(7d, cn

 1HJ = 7.9 Hz)1H), 7, 79177 (€ (m, -724H)8, (m, -8448H)0, (44B93)

 system= 127H., 5 -8Hz)26 (3m, 301H)J = 366100, (44d5 HHH), 2

 J= 11.9 -1278, 7 (2m, 881H)J = 26644, (7dd5 JH=H)1, 2.2, 538.0(

 Hz), 2s., 222H(-2b, r028.1(6n, -1.17H0), (m, -17.14H)7, (m, -15.13H0), 1.

 (m, ¹1°CH)NMR (75 k)1H8202CD2CD2CI161.0, 1488.2, 1466.4

 126.8, 121.8, 72.2, 60MS2, (A5P4C km/2, \$p.0426.1)0, (M4+41.)0

 HRMS (m2B)D2.1512 (302, 162, 162, 162, 162, 162, 163, 100, (M4+41.)0

 HRMS (m2B)D2.1512 (302, 164, 160, E‡0H)D; 29C k/ (M640 HW, Et

 9.00/0.79H544 ON M0175) Čanki MR data is in agr³ è e³ ment v

4.6 References:

- 1)(a) Wells, T. N. C.; A Nato Rens Drug DB:coveryL.; Gu 2009, 8, 8(7b9); o Brussr, r J. N.; Chiba Cune: , Top. KMed; Wells *Chem.* 2011, 11, 12(2)6; WrigWat. tProd. Rep. 201W, 27, 961.
- 2)(a) Koepfli, J. B.; Mea*J.d.4m. Chem. Sol*c. **19,47**, Brockr 69, 1**8**, **15**, **7**; Chou, T. Q.; *J. E.A.nu., ChemE. Soc.* **1948**; 70, Kao, Y 176(5c;) Jiang S.; Zeng Q.; Gettayacamin M A.; Hansukjariya P.; Oku*Atnutjmicrob.* C*Agents*O; Zhu *Chemother.* **2005**, *49*, 116(9dH) irai, S.; KikSuchiB, eghu.m;, KKi Wataya, Y.; Tasaka, H.; Miyaza*J.w.Maded*. Y.; *Chem.* **2003**, *46*, 4351.
- 3) Enantioselective syntheses of feubrifugi *Org. Chem.* 2010, 75, 5(11:8); Wang, R.; Fang, K.; Sur *Synlett* 2009, 14, 2 \$ 6 〕; Wijdeven, M. A.; van den E Botman, P. N. M.; Blaauw, R. H.; Schoem P. *Drg. Bīomol. Chem.* 2009, 7, 2 ♥ ₫ ∳; Liu, R.; Huang, W B.; L*Tietrauhedro& Lett.* 2009, 50, 4 ♥ 4 ∳; Ashoorzadeh, A.; Capri *Detrahedilon* 2009, 65, 4 € 7 1); Emmanuvel, L.; Ka Sudal *Teetrahedrom.: Asymmetry* 2009, 20, **§ 4** 〕 Sukemoto, S.; M Sato, M.; Mimura, K.; HaſNajsahimaokīa,; HTakeAu *Synthesis* 2008, 19, 3 ℚ &S) i; eng, B.; Ventura, O. L.; *Synlett* 2008, 8, 1 **2 1** ∳; Katoh, M.; *Matereröcyachas* 62006, R.; Ho

67, 1(8j9); Huang, P.; SynWete 2003, IB.; 1 & RokuQ3, apin, YH.;
Urushibara, A.; Esumi, TOrg; Lett. 1 2001a, bb, uc9h5i3,; Y.
(I) Takeuchi, Y.; Azuma, K-S.;; TW/atatatyuar, a, "
Haraya fFearahedron. 2001, 57, 12(m3); Taniguchi, T.; O
Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3 (9); Kobayashi, S.; Ueno, M.;
Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2 (705); Okitsu, O.; SuJ.zuki,
Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8(Op9); Kobayashi, S.; Ueno, M.;
Kim,-S.H; WatJ. Org. a Chem. Y999, 64, 6833.

4) Oalmann, C. J.; Richard, J.; Bockovich National Meeting, San Franciselo4,, CA, 200(6200063)G,NT1.

5) Edgar, S. A Poultry Sci. 1979, a5&gan1, 48C3..

- 6)(a) PibleodowNsky, *Drug; Dev*.NRas.g2006,r50, AS(7b1); De Jong, M. J. A.; Dumez, H.; Verweij, J.; Marréaud, S.; Yamaguchi, T.*Eur. J.*PCoumoretr, C. J 2006, 42, 1768.
- 7) DeSelm, C.; JT.e; it Zedub, *Caellu Vating chem S* 2012, *L113*, 3086.
- 8) Keller, T. L.; Zocco, D.; Sundrud, M. Kim,-J.Y;. L-Ke.e;, CHo.rtese, J. F.; Wirth, D. F C.-Y.; Mazitschek *Nat. Chaem; Biol* M210112, 18, ma3n1, 1.M.
- 9) For an early report, see: (a) Fleet, (*Tetrahedron Lett.* 1988, 29, 287€€€ ent reports: (b) Chava

B.; Harale, K. Retrahedrok a Lett. k = 2011, e = 52, U4 Q 4 R.

Emmanuvel, L.*Tetrah&du*ondLattl. **2008**, 49, A.5736.

- 10R)ecent reviews on the vinylogous aldol Curti, C.; Ras*Chemu, Rev.* 2011;, *11* 72, an 8420 m206pi; ,PaFn.sare, S Paul, *Chem. EurKJ.* 2011, *17*, 87(720); Bi*Sysuthesis*, 2012/44, 1453; Recent reports on the direct vinylogous Pansare, S. *Chem. Communa* 2011, 47, E.10(K2). 7; Yang, Y.; Z K.; Zhao, J.; Li*J*n*Org. Chem.* 2010, *i*75u, 5X8.8; 2; UFbeeng, H Shimada, N. *Angew. Chem.*, *EutdEal.*, 2010, *i*49, 18; 58; Pansare, V.; Pa00ntg., *BiomEol. Chem.* 2012, *10*, 2119.
- 11S)elected reports on the asymmetric vin silylosxyf(uar)anEvans, D. A.; Kozlowski, M. Campos, L. R.; Conn*JeAlm.I Chem. ESoc.* 19799, *121*, St6a6 p91; es, (b) Singh, R. P.; *J. Amx. Cheam. Soc.* 26910, *13*071.; 955D&e; ng, (c) Zhu, N.; ; MaWan Boydy:; SyMMZ. 155aaah 26910, 352, 12, 69];
 Frings, M.; Atodiresei, I.; WChaem.-gEyr. V.; R *J.* 2010, *16*, 45, 79; é, Felr.r; ef, iOrgy, B2Ledt. 2010, *12*, 49, 75; Curti, C.; Ranieri, B.; Battistini, L.; Rassu, Zanar*Athiv. SynthFCatal.* 2010, *352*, 20, 59]; Sedelmeier, J.; Bolm, Org. CLett; 2008, *10*, 9(1h7); Nagao, H.; Yamane, Y. *Chem. Lett.* 2007, *36*, (81;) Boeckman, R. K.; *J.* Pinero, J. *Chem. Soc.* 2006, *128*, 11 (0j3)2; Palombi, L.; Acocella

Massa, A.; Vill*Tetrahedron:* Resymmetry S2006, t/7t, ri3, 3 (QA);

OnitsukauokSa.,; YMa;tslri*Cehem. LRt.* 2,003, K2ats9(771k4);, T. Matsuoka, Y.; I*Chem.eLett.* 2,003, *32*, K 55(81m4)uk Siz, IoTsek, Figéraed, *AngBw. Chem., Int. Ed.* 2000, *39*, 1799.

- 12C)olobert, F.; GNNeodpeprions,, SL.;; Fo2ebrnriæntiofreor, SN Urbano, A.; *Ofig.aLettr***264017**, Ø,, 4N44.51C.
- 13()a) Okino, Т.; Ho*JaAsn.hChem. Sok*. **20,03**, *П*25, akein2a(cobb7)22;; Ү. Okino, Т.; Hoashi, Ү.; Fu*J*: Adumk Edhamina Soc. Т.; Хи **2005**, *127*, 119.
- 14()a) Kohlni; shLia,m, T. Y.; Mal Ong.iLeat.h2010, J2, P.; 202(8b;) Zhu, Y.; Maler4nigeow.hChem.Jnt. Ed.P2010, 49R awal, 153.
- 1 5A) n h , *Thep. Curr. Chem.*, **1980**, *88*, 1 4 5 .
- 16L) archevéque, J. Kohem. Sod. Cahema Chomomeun, 1985,. 83.

4.7 Selected ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra






























210 200 190 180 170 160 150 140 130 120 110 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 -10 f1 (ppm)

4.8 Selected HPLC chromatograms









The organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol (ODVA) reactions of γ crotonolactone with various aromatic aldehydes (Scheme 5.1) were developed. It was observed that these reactions were catalyzed by several bifunctional chiral aminothioureas and aminosquaramides. A catalyst survey was carried out to find the optimal catalyst. Among various thiourea and squaramide catalysts, the squaramide catalysts gave the best result, providing the *anti* diastereomer as the major product. The optimized conditions were employed in a study of the scope of the reaction with a variety of aldehydes. These investigations indicated that the choice of catalyst or was determined by the nature of the aldehyde and high enantioselectivities were obtained by proper pairing of the catalyst and aldehyde. Overall, good diastereoselectivities (5-8:1) and excellent enantioselectivities (94- >99% *ee*) were obtained. Chapter 2 of this thesis describes details of the development of this method. E. K. Paul contributed to all of the synthetic work and was involved in the preparation of the manuscript for publication.



. The ODVA reaction catalyzed by squaramides and .

To demonstrate the synthetic importance of the organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol (ODVA) reactions of γ -crotonolactone with aldehydes, application of the methodology in the synthesis of 2,3-disubstituted piperidines such as (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and (2*S*,3*R*)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid was examined. The substance P receptor antagonists (+)-L-733,060 and (+)-CP-99,994, are associated with a variety of biological effects including smooth muscle contraction, neurogenic inflammation and pain transmission and (2*S*,3*R*)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid, is a component of tetrazomine, an antitumor agent and an antibiotic. In this project, ODVA reaction of γ -crotonolactone with benzaldehyde as the key step provided an efficient entry into piperidine derivatives (Scheme 5.2). The synthesis of (+)-L-733,060 was accomplished in 9 steps from the γ -crotonolactone () in 24.8% overall yield. The synthesis of (+)-CP-99,994 was accomplished in 11 steps from the γ -crotonolactone () in 28.1% overall yield. The results of this work are presented in

Chapter 3 of this thesis. E. K. Paul contributed to all of the synthetic work and was involved in the preparation of the manuscript for publication.



. Synthesis of (+)-L-733,060, (+)-CP-99,994 and (2*S*,3*R*)-3-hydroxypipecolic acid.

In the last project, the ODVA reaction was employed in the total synthesis of the antimalarial alkaloid (+)-febrifugine and a formal synthesis of (+)-halofuginone, an antimalarial agent (Scheme 5.3). The key steps in the synthesis involve the ODVA reaction of γ -crotonolactone with the aldehyde and the isomerization of a 2-aminoalkyl furanone to the 2,3-disubstituted piperidinone core of the target. The synthesis of the (+)-febrifugine was accomplished in 14 steps from the commercially available γ -crotonolactone () in 6.8% overall yield. The results of this work are presented in Chapter 4 of this thesis. E. K. Paul contributed to all of the synthetic work and was involved in the preparation of the manuscript for publication.



. Synthesis of (+)-febrifugine and a formal synthesis of (+)-halofuginone employing the ODVA reaction.

In summary, the thesis work has developed a highly enantioselective, organocatalytic direct vinylogous aldol reaction of crotonolactone with aldehydes. This methodology was used in the synthesis of various biologically active compounds and natural products containing the 2,3-disubstituted piperidine motif.

Although the products of the 2-furanone in ODVA reaction can be converted into piperidines, a limitation of the methodology is the need for converting the aldol products into the corresponding amino lactone. An attractive alternative to this approach would be the direct synthesis of the amino lactones *via* an organocatalytic vinylogous Mannich reaction (Scheme 5.4) of imines with 2-furanone.



. Organocatalytic direct vinylogous Mannich-type reaction of crotonolactone.

It is anticipated that, the Mannich reaction will be catalyzed by hydrogen bonding donor catalysts or by chiral protic acids depending on the nature of the amine used to make the imines.

Alternatively, instead of using a chiral catalyst, chiral imines can be used as substrates. In addition, the organocatalytic vinylogous aldol as well as Mannich reactions can be examined with a variety of substituted crotonolactones.